
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 11 November 2020 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members 
can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Statutory Statement of Accounts 2019/20 (Pages 9 - 12)

6. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2 2020/21 (Pages 13 - 36)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2 2020/21 (Pages 37 - 54)

8. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2020/21 TO FOLLOW

9. Mid-Year Review of 2020/21 Corporate Risk Register (Pages 55 - 96)

10.National Fraud Initiative Progress Report (Pages 97 - 
106)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private
None

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Nirmal Khabra
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 13 October 2020                                             7:30pm 

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Dakota Dibben 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 

Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin 
Anita Tysoe 
Andrew Barnett 
Alex Jarvis    

Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Service Manger (Customer & Theatre Services) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer)   

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

66. Apologies for absence 

No apologies of absence were received. 

67. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 21 July 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

68. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Gow advised that she had sought legal advice with regard to declaring a non-pecuniary 
interest for item 5 of the agenda as she had been in contact with one of the complainants in 
her capacity as Ward Councillor. The advice given by the Deputy Monitoring Officer advised 
that there was no need to make a make a declaration of internet as no decision was being 
taken and the information was purely for noting by the Committee. 

Cllr Rice declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Director of Rosherville 
Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

69. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2019/20 

The Committee were presented with a copy of the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for Gravesham. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) informed the Committee that: 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

2

 For the year ending 31 March 2020, the LG&SCO received a total of 19 complaints 
or enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services

 Of the 19 contacts, decisions were made for all of them, along with 2 complaints 
received in the previous financial year. The outcomes were as follows;

o 9 of the contacts were referred back to Gravesham Borough Council as 
premature, i.e. the complaint process had not been concluded.

o Advice was given for 3 contacts i.e. the matter was outside the Ombudsman’s 
jurisdiction or there was an alternative route to deal with the issue. 

o 1 contact was incomplete or invalid 
o 8 contacts resulted in some form of enquiry or investigation by the 

Ombudsman; 4 were closed after initial enquiries; 3 were investigated but not 
upheld as there was no finding of mal-administration. 1 complaint was upheld 
on the basis of maladministration, but no injustice had been suffered. The 
complaint related to the enforcement of parking over dropped kerbs; a 
recommendation was received from the Ombudsmen that the Council should 
review its enforcement policy in relation to residents dropped kerb parking.  

The remedy set by the Ombudsman was that Gravesham’s Parking Enforcement Policy 
should be updated to reflect enforcement. This was duly updated by the Parking Services 
Manager and it was adopted by Cabinet on 11 November 2019 

In response to a Member question regarding enforcement for parking over dropped kerbs, 
the Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) confirmed her understanding that the 
Council did not enforce against parking over dropped kerbs. 

Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran congratulated officers for their hard work and only one of the 19 
complaints being upheld by the Ombudsmen.  

Resolved that the Committed noted the information contained within the report.  

70. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - 1 April to 31 August 2020 

The Committee were provided with a report that updated on the work, outputs and 
performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 August 
2020.   

The Head of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services guided Members through the report 
and highlighted key areas for Members consideration. 

Under PM13a on page 51 of the report, the Head of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Services informed Members that as of today, the proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments that were delivered had increased from 5% to 29%. 

In response to questions from Members, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Services and the Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 With regards to the Apprenticeships Scheme, a review was being undertaken to put a 
policy in place to ensure the Scheme would be utilised effectively. Through that work, 
steps would be taken in the future to maximise the amount of work carried out 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

3

through the Scheme. The Scheme did not only apply to young people/school leavers, 
existing staff also had the opportunity to upskill. Management Team were keen to 
maximise the use of the maximise the use of the apprentice levy, upskill the existing 
workforce and bring in new staff through the Scheme 

 Apprentices had been very successful at the Council in the past; there were usually 
twelve or thirteen apprentices in post every year. Management Team were interested 
in addressing some of the concerns around employment opportunities in the current 
climate and a number of options were being reviewed. The Council will also look to 
help the local economy through Government schemes such as the Kickstart 
Campaign 

 With regards to the two employees that falsified Covid-19 Shielding Letters, the Head 
of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services consulted with HR and a discussion was 
held on the amount of resources it would take to pursue disciplinary investigations for 
both staff members. It was decided that as they resigned immediately following 
notification of a pending investigation, the issue had been resolved and it was 
deemed not cost effective to spend a large amount of resources on completing the 
disciplinary investigation. The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud advised that these 
were isolated cases that appeared to be the work of two opportunists rather than the 
start of a wide scale problem within the council. The issue was quickly identified by 
HR due to the controls in place and the two individuals are no longer employed by 
the council.

 A data matching exercise is where the team took sets of data from various sources 
and inputted them into a database for comparison. The Cabinet Office ran the 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which took election data and compared it to addresses 
that were in receipt of the Single Person Discount. The database would flag up any 
addresses where there were multiple people living there over the age eighteen which 
assisted the team in finding possible fraudulent cases. KIN stood for the Kent 
Intelligence Network which was a network that was run by KCC, Medway Council 
and the district authorities within Kent; it was created through a successful funding 
bid to the DCLG. It is a fraud hub that the authorities use to run data matching to 
identify potential fraud and error within their areas 

 All of the information in the report occurred after the start of Covid-19 and the 
national lockdown; there was one referral case of homelessness (page 48) which 
was rejected due to insufficient information to justify investigation. The team had a 
limited amount of resources to pursue investigations and sometimes the information 
received from the public wasn’t enough to warrant an investigation, which was most 
likely what happened with the referral. Often the cases were reported out of hours 
and they did not leave any contact information to purse follow up information and 
clarification 

The Head of Audit & Counter Shared Services advised that the National Fraud Initiative was 
one of the biggest areas that the team worked on and a specific update on the work that 
stemmed from the most recently completed exercise would be submitted to the Committee 
at a future meeting. 

Resolved that the information contained within the report was noted. 

71. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21 

The Committee were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

4

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 60 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 General Fund – Revenue 
 General Fund – Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements. 

Following questions for clarification, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Principal 
Accountant (General Fund) elaborated further on several key points within the report:

 Parking Income: £1,019k adverse variance – For districts Council of Gravesham 
size, income received from parking was a large income stream; prior to Covid-19, the 
total budgeted income stream relating  to surface car parks  was a little over £1.4 
million. The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) added that it was hoped that the 
loss of income would be covered by the Local government income compensation 
scheme for lost sales, fees and charges. An update will be reported to the Committee 
in the next Budget Monitoring Report 

 Horn Yard and Market Square car parks – Final negotiations were still ongoing for 
the proposed Charter development and there was no fixed date however it was 
anticipated for the purposes of budget monitoring that the car parks would be closed 
from September 2020. 

 3.11.8 – MTFP – The Council received Government grant money totalling £130K to 
cover the administration costs for administering the business support grants to local 
businesses. 

 Land at Dering Way – A master planning exercise was underway; the Director 
(Corporate Services) agreed to circulate an explanation of the £1.1 million spend on 
Dering Way within the General Fund Capital Programme  

 Parrock Street Resurfacing – The Principle Accountant (General Fund) agreed to 
contact the lead officer and circulate an explanation as to why the Parrock Street Car 
Park resurfacing spend in the Capital Programme was £27K against a budget of just 
under £12K 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Full Council approved the loan on 19 December 
2019 but the Council had not issued the loan to EHC yet. There were a number of 
conditions that EHC had to adhere to in order to receive the loan which included 
obtaining and sharing all relevant quotes for the works, certain caps on costs and 
some requirements around financial analysis. The conversations were ongoing with 
EHC and no grant payments would be made until they had fulfilled the criteria agreed 
by Full Council 

The Chair further explained that if there was another wave of Covid-19 related restrictions 
then the car parking income stream could be affected again as people would be working 
from home more and visit the Town less. 

In response to a question regarding the projected overspend of £3.36 million, the  Director 
(Corporate Services) confirmed that the council held working balances of some £10m;  the 
shortfall of some £3 million would be covered through the use of working balances. 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

5

A Member raised several questions concerning the Climate Change reserve of £500K and 
where the deciding line was with regard to spending decisions that had already been made 
on capital purchases and new spending decisions being made that were influenced by the 
need for the Council to go carbon neutral by 2030. The Director (Corporate Services) 
explained that the £500k reserve was intended to be used as seed funding to achieve the 
council’s carbon neutral ambitions; in some areas, such as housing, the nature of the works 
to maintain properties from capital provisions in the future are likely to include activity which 
contributes to this.

Due to the Council having a balanced Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) in February 
2020, the Director (Corporate Services) explained that the Council was in a stable financial 
position currently even taking into account the likely financial impacts of Covid-19. The 
longer term financial sustainability of the council will all be taken into consideration when the 
budget setting process is started; the Councils 2021/22 budget will be presented to Members 
at Full Council in February 2021. 

The Committee commended officers for their hard work during a very difficult quarter. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

72. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 
2020/21 

The Committee were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 60 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 HRA – Revenue 
 HRA – Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements. 

In response to a question regarding how the Vacancy Management was constituted, the 
Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) agreed to circulate an answer to Members after 
the meeting. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

73. Redmond Review Update 

The Committee were informed of the publication of the Independent Review into the 
Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting (the 
Redmond Review) and to summarise the key recommendations made. 

The Director (Corporate Services) informed the Committee that whilst the review was 
expected to report in March 2020, the document setting out the findings of the review was 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

6

actually released on 8th September 2020. The full findings of the review could be found 
through the below link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-
audit-independent-review

The review set out a total of 23 recommendations which were reproduced at Appendix Two 
to the report for Members information. 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Rt Hon Robert 
Jenrick MP, will now consider the findings and recommendations. Further updates on the 
Redmond Review will be brought to the committee in due course. 

The Chair queried if the recommendations that stemmed from the report were similar to what 
the Council already had in place or they were entirely new. 

The Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that the recommendations made by the review 
would be new recommendations for the MHCLG to consider; the recommendations primarily 
focused around external audit regulations and the creation of a new body, the Office for 
Local Audit and Regulation (OLAR), to deliver coordinated oversight and regulation of local 
external audit. They also focused on the quality and supply of the external audit service by 
expanding the pool of audit firms that could bid for local audit work thus increasing 
competition. With regards to how it would affect the Council, there were a few arrangements 
which the Finance & Audit Committee and Full Council would need to consider if the 
recommendations were pushed forward. These include the recommendation for annual 
reporting to Full Council of local audit outcomes and consideration of Independent Members 
to support the Finance & Audit Committee. The Director (Corporate Services) assured the 
Committee that they would be apprised of any further updates to the review and the 
recommendations at future Committee meetings. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:33pm. 

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-audit-independent-review


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members with progress of the annual external audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
and request that delegated authority by given to the Chair of the Committee to sign the 
audited Statement of Accounts and Letter of Representation outside of this meeting. This will 
include consideration of the Audit Findings Report from the external audtiors Grant Thornton.  
In signing the audited Statement of Accounts and Letter of Representation, the Chair will take 
into account any comments from Members on both the Statement of Accounts and Audit 
Findings Report documents which will be circulated to the Committee once finalised.

Recommendations:
1. That delegated responsibility is given from the Committee to the Chair of the 

Committee to sign the audited Statement of Accounts and Letter of Representation 
outside of the 11 November meeting.

1. Introduction

1.1 The production of the Statement of Accounts is an annual process which, in 
recent years, has incorporated a draft Statement being prepared by 31st May, with 
a final audited version being completed by 31st July. In the light of matters arising 
from the Covid-19 pandemic, for 2019/20 these dates were moved to 31st July and 
30th November respectively.

1.2 The Council’s draft 2019/20 Statement of Accounts was prepared, published on 
the website and passed to the external auditors on 7th July 2020 

1.3 The external audit process commenced in mid-July and since that time, the 
Finance team, liaising in particular with colleagues in Property Services, Human 
Resources, Payroll and Revenues & Benefits, have fielded and responded to a 
range of enquiries from the external audit team. 

1.4 It was in the intention of the Finance team and the external auditors to bring an 
audited set of accounts, incorporating the final audit opinion from Grant Thornton, 
along with the Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton, to the Finance and 
Audit Committee meeting of 11 November for consideration and final sign-off.

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Current Position

2.1 Whilst significant progress has been made in the external audit process since 
July, as of writing the work is not concluded and thus it has not been possible to 
produce an audited set of accounts for sign-off at the 11 November Finance & 
Audit Committee meeting.

2.2 In particular, accounting arrangements relating to the St George’s Centre have 
required a greater depth of audit work than was previously anticipated – for 
example regarding valuation techniques, the substance / form of the agreement 
itself with Reef Estates and Aviva, and the projected longer-term cash flows and 
financing arrangements. The Council has sought technical advice from Link Group 
(who also advised the Council previously when transaction was being considered 
in 2018), and are currently working with the auditors to ensure appropriate 
accounting arrangements are disclosed in the final version of the accounts.

2.3 Additionally, the auditors have had additional requirements placed upon them by 
their own regulatory body, which has led to an elongated process this year. 
Examples include (but are not limited to):

 additional testing on Property, Plant and Equipment valuations

 additional testing on Pension and Investment valuations

 additional scrutiny of management assumptions and estimates

 assessment of Covid-19 impact on valuations, financial resilience, going 
concern.

3. Summary

3.1 Each of the items detailed above have resulted in an increased scope of audit 
work required, and have therefore had a resultant effect on the timing of producing 
audited accounts.

3.2 It is therefore recommended that the Finance & Audit Committee provide 
delegated responsibility to the Chair of the Committee to approve the audited 
accounts outside of the formal committee meeting, as well as signing the Letter of 
Representation at that same time.

3.3 Recognising the important role that the committee plays in the governance 
arrangements of the council, Members of the Committee will receive circulation of 
the final audited accounts, along with the Audit Findings Report from Grant 
Thornton.  It is therefore proposed that the responsibility to sign the audited 
Statement of Accounts and Letter of Representation will have due regard to any 
final comments Members may have arising from these documents.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal N/A

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A - no direct financial implications for signing the Statement of Accounts outside 
of the planned committee meeting.

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan N/A

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 09 November 2020 / 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2020/21 – Quarter Two 

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th September 2020, as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, there is a projected overspend for the year of £2,360,950. 
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year are 
largely attributable to reduced income projections arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.2. The council ended 2019/20 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £85,800 
to be approved for carry forward into 2020/21.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £8.86m, constituted of the 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £3.61m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.76m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.91m at start of year, and projected to be £11.15m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding and the financial 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £33.52m, including £6.95m to 
support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property portfolio; £4.7m for 
developing Land at Dering Way and £14.2m for The Charter development works.  Actual 
spend for Quarter Two was £2.58m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2020/21 was £11,543,950, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £270,100 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table on the next page sets out the current assessment of performance against the 
Original Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 
September 2020. 

Page 14



3

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2020/21 (£)

Forecast 
2020/21 (£)

Variation 
2020/21 (£)

Chief Executive 26,810 26,810 0
Communities 3,509,280 4,693,900 1,184,620
Corporate Services 2,978,780 3,828,840 850,060
Housing & Operations 3,680,230 3,746,740 66,510
Planning & Development 1,850,240 1,919,630 69,390
Items Carried Forward from 2019-20 0 85,800 85,800
Non-Directorate Specific 850,200 850,200 0
Interest and Investment Income (850,000) (745,430) 104,570
Government Grant Funding (1,267,930) (1,267,930) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (515,180) (352,180) 163,000
Transfers to/ (from) balances 603,010 603,010 0
Transactions below the line 678,510 515,510 (163,000)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,543,950 13,904,900 2,360,950

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) 0
Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) 0
Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) 0
New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) 0
Transfers to Working Balances 270,100 270,100 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 2,360,950 2,360,950

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £1,185k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Leisure Services Income: £149k adverse variance – the Council has considered 
financial support to Gravesham Community Leisure Limited who manage Cascades and 
Cygnet Leisure Centres within the borough, in the light of the centres’ enforced closure 
resulting from government actions to combat Covid-19. Resultantly, fees payable for 
quarters one and two of 2020/21 have been waived with the effect of reduced income to 
the council of £149k.

3.3.2. Woodville & Market income: £118k adverse variance – due the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and government measures designed to combat the spread of the 
virus, both The Woodville and Borough Market ceased operations immediately in March 
2020.  Following the partial lifting of restrictions, the Market reopened in early June, with 
a Woodville cinema offering commencing in early July (although the theatre itself 
remains closed and is not expected to reopen until later in 2020/21). Financial 
projections have been undertaken to analyse the impact of reduced income at both the 
Market and Woodville, with the combined effect projected at being £443k for the current 
financial year. 

Page 15



4

3.3.3. Following the Government’s announcement on 2 July of a Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation Scheme designed to support Local Authorities for lost income streams as 
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, detailed guidance has been received and worked 
through enabling a first claim to be submitted on 30 September. For The Woodville, the 
projected full-year compensation is currently anticipated to be £325k, therefore giving 
rise to the projected net adverse variance for 2020/21 of £118k.  Market rental income is 
not covered by the compensation scheme.

3.3.4. Rental Income: £466k adverse variance – the Council’s original budget for 2020/21 
included an estimation of £4,625k for rental income, predominantly within the 
Communities directorate.  An exercise has been undertaken to evaluate this income 
stream closely in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic which has included an assessment 
of the likely impact on properties acquired under the Council’s Property Acquisition 
Programme, as well as existing sites held such as Industrial Units and District Shopping 
Centres. 

3.3.5. For the most significant income streams and where greater information is known about 
tenants and payment habits, detailed projections have been considered. For the residual 
items held under the rental income heading, an estimate of a 25% potential income 
reduction has been applied. The net effect of both sets of calculations is a projected 
adverse variance of £466k for 2020/21.

3.3.6. Parking Income: £452k adverse variance – following the lockdown announcement of 
23 March in response the Covid-19 pandemic, parking charges – both on-street and 
within car parks – were suspended whilst government restrictions were in place to 
combat the spread of coronavirus. As restrictions were partially lifted, parking charges 
and enforcement were reintroduced across the borough from June, however, with no 
income being realised across the first two months of the financial year and lower levels 
of usage since this time, there is adverse effect on the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

3.3.7. Additionally, with the proposed development of The Charter gaining momentum in 
2020/21, it had anticipated that Horn Yard and Market Square car parks would be closed 
from September 2020. Officers in Finance have been working with the Parking Services 
Manager on updated income projections to take account both of these closures, and the 
wider income reduction arising from the Covid-19 pandemic. The net effect of these 
projected income reductions is an adverse variance of £1,020k in 2020/21.

3.3.8. In the same fashion as described in section 3.3.3, the compensation claim for lost 
income submitted includes elements relating to Parking Services. This is anticipated to 
have a positive effect of £568k, thus reducing the net projected variance for the service 
to £452k for 2020/21.

3.3.9. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the Council has successfully 
secured a Crime Reduction Grant of around £35k from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to support the Community Safety service. This will be directed to the 
upgrade of CCTV cameras in key locations within the town centre and other known 
areas of crime.

3.3.10. Market Equipment: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £33k has been made 
available to finance necessary works at the Borough Market to extend the number of 
units capable of accommodating food traders. This incorporates a combination of 
electrical, extraction and kitchen works, and will extend food-trading capabilities to an 
additional six units. This links with the vision set out in with the Market Strategy, which 
was formally adopted in May 2020, for the market to become a key local destination 
within the community, with food as its core offer.

Page 16



5

3.4      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £850k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1 Fees & Charges: £758k adverse variance – work is ongoing across the Council’s 
finances to assess the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly in relation to a 
range of fees and charges budget lines. For significant income streams, detailed 
projections have been ascertained following work between the Finance team and budget 
holders e.g. Parking, Planning, Rental Income, with variances reported within their 
respective directorates. For the residual items within fees & charges across all 
directorates, an assumption of a 25% reduction has been applied and recorded under 
Corporate Services, giving rise to a projected £800k adverse variance.  This assumption 
has been derived on the basis of little income realised April-June, with a staggered 
increase occurring across the rest of 2020/21. It is consistent with expectations of other 
District Councils in Kent, and will continue to be monitored throughout the year.

3.4.2 In line with the Government’s Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation Scheme, described 
more fully in section 3.3.3, £42k is projected to be received relating to residual fees & 
charges income lines, giving rise to the net reported adverse variance here of £758k.

3.4.3 The Charter: £81k adverse variance – In order to facilitate the building of The Charter, 
the Council will be borrowing £82m from PWLB and onward lend it to Rosherville, its 
wholly-owned trading company, during the construction phase.  Interest will be payable 
on the loans but as Rosherville will not be generating income during the construction 
phase, the Council will need to meet the interest costs.  The interest costs over the 
construction phase will total around £2.3m.  On practical completion, the Council will 
refinance the loan and will capitalise the interest costs as part of this refinancing to 
enable Rosherville to repay the interest costs the Council has incurred.  Therefore, 
whilst there is an adverse variance in 2020/21, there is ultimately a nil impact on the 
MTFP.

3.4.4 Property Fund Management Fees: £11k adverse variance – The Council invested 
£10m across three Property Fund’s in 2016.  Each Property Fund pays a quarterly 
dividend to the Council, which is treated as investment income.  However, the dividend’s 
payable are reduced by fees which are incurred as part of the day to day management 
of the funds, such as legal costs.  As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Property 
Funds have incurred additional costs to collect rental income and renegotiate tenancies 
to avoid properties becoming vacant.   Therefore, the Council has seen higher 
management fees as a result.

3.4.5 Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – as part of the budget-setting process,
the establishment of a £500k Climate Change earmarked reserve was agreed at Full 
Council in February 2020. In quarter two of 2020/21, a scheme to replace litter bins and 
trial recycling “on-the-go” at St Andrew’s Gardens has been developed, for which £3k 
has been made available from the reserve. 

3.4.6 A further £12k has been released from the reserve to purchase the “Carbon Reduction 
Options for Housing Managers” (CROHM) package which is designed to create a 
detailed model of the energy performance of the Council’s housing stock. This system 
will also have the ability to model scenarios and costings for specific carbon reduction 
work the Council may wish to consider in the future.

 

 

Page 17



6

3.5     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE  – £66k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £37k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service continues to expand in 2020/21.  This additional volume of around 
1,600 new customers since April 2020, in conjunction with a review of the existing 
charging structure from the same date, has led to additional net income of £37k 
compared to the original budget. 

3.5.2 Waste Recycling Income: £15k favourable variance – income received from recycling 
credits has been higher than budgeted due to an increase in recyclable waste in the first 
quarter of the year.

3.5.3 Increased fuel costs: £20k adverse variance – following the recent expansion of the 
Brookvale Depot fleet of vehicles, combined with additional domestic collection and fly-
tipping recovery journeys as an indirect consequence of lockdown measures associated 
with the Covid-19 pandemic, there is projected additional fuel expenditure of £20k in 
2020/21.

3.5.4 Trade Waste Collections: £98k adverse variance – as a result of government 
restrictions following the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, many local businesses 
were required to close temporarily and thus no longer required the Council’s trade waste 
collection services. Although many have now re-opened, some are running at reduced 
capacity compared to pre-lockdown, with others closed permanently. There is therefore 
a reduced demand for trade waste collection services, which gives rise to the projected 
income deficit of £98k for 2020/21.

3.6     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE –  £69k ADVERSE  VARIANCE

3.6.1 Planning Services Income: £37k adverse variance – there has been a reduction in 
demand for planning experienced in the first part of the year.  The volume of planning 
applications since lockdown was announced on 23 March has decreased by 20-25%. 
This has been experienced at both a national and local level, and has occurred due to 
the restrictions in place delaying applications and works that were previously envisaged. 
Although it is hoped that volumes will increase during the rest of the year, an overall 
income reduction of 25% is currently expected, equating to a financial reduction of 
£103k for 2020/21.

3.6.2 It is anticipated that through the Government’s Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation 
Scheme outlined in section 3.3.3, a full-year reimbursement of £66k will be received 
relating to Planning Services. This will reduce the projected overall budgetary impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic within the service to £37k.

3.6.3 South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership: £32k adverse variance – in 
a similar fashion to the variance described above, Building Control activity has been 
substantially affected by lockdown restrictions arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The 
Partnership as a whole is forecasting an income deficit for 2020/21 of £512k, of which 
the Gravesham share would be £77k. This represents an additional £32k over and 
above the originally budgeted contribution payable from the Council to the Partnership of 
£45k.

3.6.4 Street-Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £50k each from the NNDR 
Growth Fund and Revenue Grants not yet applied has been made available to facilitate 
the conversion, where possible, of Council-owned street and amenity lighting to LED 
lighting, as well providing for maintaining and fixing existing assets.

Page 18



7

3.6.5 Bus interchange at Rathmore Road: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £15k has 
been made available as a contribution to a Kent County Council-led project to implement 
a new bus hub to improve the transport interchange between bus and rail in Gravesend 
town centre at Barrack Row.

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2019/20 – £86k

3.7.1 The following items from 2019/20 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

 
Summary of General Fund Revenue 2019/20 year-end carry forward requests
Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2020/21
Communities Community Engagement £7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward. The MOD have agreed that this 

money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project next 
year.

Communities Community Involvement £12,640 Unspent Community Involvement budget to be used to bolster activities and 
events in the new year due to the cancellation of a number of activities in 
2019/20. 

Communities The Woodville £15,000 Unspent Woodville budget to be rolled forward to cover the cost of new 
lighting in the Kent Room and Bar.

Communities Arts Development & Cultural 
Events

£6,000 Grant associated with The Arts Council Service Level Agreement. 
Outstanding information delayed due to organisational restructure. Funds will 
be re-aligned in the 2020/21 Service Level Agreement.

Communities Arts Projects £3,450 Income received from ticket sales of the annual Outdoor Theatre held at 
Nurstead Court. The funds raised from the previous years performance will 
be used to cover 2020/21 production costs.

Communities Licensing £6,200 Budget needed to fund the cost of new tablets for the  Licensing Team, this 
has been delayed due to COVID-19.

Communities Major Outdoor Events £17,690 Social Values income received in 2019/20 which has not been allocated to 
events.  This will now be spent in 2020/21.

Corporate Services Corporate Management 
Expenses

£13,710 Budget to be rolled forward to pay for the solicitors cost for the sale of Lord 
Street car park.

Housing & Operations Burials Admin £3,500 Safety equipment required for grave excavation which is a legal requirement, 
the delivery of this equipment was delayed due to COVID-19.

Total carry-forward requests £85,800

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2019/20

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £105k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the world’s economy.  In the 
UK, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) made two emergency cuts in quick 
succession to the Bank of England Base rate, reducing it firstly from 0.75% to 0.25% 
and then further to 0.10%.  The value of equity markets has fallen to record lows and 
property rental income streams have become uncertain as business property 
requirements change.  

3.8.2 The Council generates investment income through dividends from Property Funds and 
Multi Asset funds as well as interest earnt from investing the remaining cash balances in 
Fixed Term deposits, Call accounts and Money Market Funds.  

3.8.3 Whilst Property Fund Managers are working closely with all their tenants to secure the 
rental income, a reduction in dividend income is expected as some companies will not 
be able to fully meet their rental obligations.  Void properties may not be able to re-let as 
quickly as they might previously have been and additional legal costs are being incurred 
to renegotiate tenancies. The forecast dividend from Property Funds this year is around 
£343k.

Page 19



8

3.8.4 The income from Multi Asset Funds is expected to be reduced for a number of reasons 
including some companies holding off paying shareholder dividends and investments 
not returning the expected level of interest due to the reduction in the Bank of England 
base rate.  The forecast dividend from Multi Asset Funds this year is approximately 
£329k.

3.8.5 For internally invested cash balances, the reduction in the Bank of England’s Base Rate 
will result in forecasted investment income of around £114k.

3.8.6 The combined effect of these forecasts, taking in account the allocation of investment 
returns to the HRA, result in an adverse variance on investment income of £105k.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £163k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Communities, Corporate Services, and Planning & 
Development Directorate sections above.

3.10 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.10.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 10,350,750 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 603,010 
Budgeted contribution to Working Balances 270,100 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2019/20) (2,360,950)
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 8,862,910 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 3,612,910 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 20



9

3.10.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
final movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2020 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 369 (280) 50 139 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320 (489) 100 931 

 Spend to Save Reserve 160 (162) 2 --  
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649 (189) 359 1,819 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 250 --  --  250 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 111 (24) 12 99 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

25 (25) --  --  
Elections Reserve 74 --  --  74 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 340 (330) 75 85 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 102 (105) 105 102 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,002 (400) 231 833 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 588 (110) 239 717 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 (100) --  50 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 227 --  58 285 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 --  --  700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 948 --  --  948 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 483 --  210 693 
 Service Review Reserve 241 (158) --  83 
 Playgrounds Reserve 117 (55) --  62 
Decriminalisation Reserve 185 (285) 100 --  
Enterprise Reserve --  (349) 500 151 
Climate Change Reserve --  (15) 500 485 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 10,041 (3,076) 2,541 9,506 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,865 (228) --  1,637 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,906 (3,304) 2,541 11,143 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.10.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.3.10, 3.4.5, 3.6.4 and 3.6.5.

3.10.4 Other reserve movements are forecast as per the original budget and will be updated 
once further expenditure plans/drawdowns are established.

Page 21



10

3.11     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.11.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest 
version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.11.2 Following the recent conclusion of pay award negotiations, an increase for 2020/21 of 
2.75% has been paid in September, back-dated to April 2020. This is 0.75% above what 
was included in the original budget, and on a full staffing establishment would equate to 
an additional cost pressure of around £100k. The latest projections for staffing costs 
indicate that this rise can be contained within existing budgets due to less expenditure 
than expected in relation to employees, but will be monitored closely for the remainder 
of the year and reported appropriately in due course.

3.11.3 Although not expected to have a significant impact on 2020/21 budgets, the confirmed 
pay-award will have an impact on future years within the MTFP, where the compound 
year-on-year effect of this change will be over and above what has currently been 
budgeted for employee costs. The Finance team are commencing work on the salaries 
estimates process and will build in these projections accordingly, with the overall impact 
being part of the budget-setting papers produced for Members in early 2021.

3.11.4 The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly affected the Council’s financial outlook in 
2020/21.  As set out within the previous sections of the report, it is anticipated that 
during the current financial year the Council will see significant reductions of income, for 
example in the following areas:

 Rental income payments from tenants within commercial and investment properties 
 Fees charges – for example car parking income and receipts at The Woodville
 Investment income from Property and Multi-Asset Funds
 Council Tax and Business Rates 

3.11.5 As referenced elsewhere in this report, on 2nd July the Government announced a Sales, 
Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme whereby 75% of sales, fees and charges 
related income losses arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, beyond 5% of budgeted 
income, would be reimbursed.  Under the scheme, amounts claimed are based on net 
losses i.e. compensating reductions in expenditure are also taken into account.  
Reimbursements work on an instalment basis, with claims submitted in September & 
December 2020, and April 2021.  The first claim was submitted on 30th September 
(covering the period April to July 2020) and amounted to £300,925.

3.11.6 The full year projected compensation for Gravesham is currently around £1m and is 
dominated by claims relating to Parking, Planning, Waste and Woodville services. It 
should also be noted that the scheme is subject to further MHCLG refinements over the 
coming months and will be impacted by actual income received in the remainder of the 
financial year. The mechanism does not cover:

 Losses from commercial rental income and investment income
 Voluntary decisions made locally which result in losses which are out of line with 

government guidance. 

Page 22



11

3.11.7 As of writing, the Council has received around £1.3m funding from Central Government 
in order to assist with expenditure pressures associated with responding to the 
pandemic.  This comprises of three separate tranches received of £53k, £1,054k and 
£194k respectively. 

3.11.8 On 22 October Local Government Secretary Robert Jenrick confirmed allocations for 
individual councils from the £1 billion of additional support announced by the Prime 
Minister earlier in the month.  £919 million has been allocated to Tranche 4 funding for 
the ongoing work of councils to support communities during the pandemic. Gravesham’s 
allocation was £486k.  A further £100 million will be used to introduce a new fund which 
will support council leisure centres most in need. Further details on the scheme will be 
set out shortly.

3.11.9 In relation to Council Tax and Business Rates, the Government is implementing a 
further scheme to assist with Covid-19 related income shortfalls. Whilst under      

            conventional collection fund accounting arrangements, any deficits experienced in 
            2020/21 would normally be repayable from the General Fund in the following year i.e. 
            2021/22, provision has been made to spread these payments over a three year-period 
            instead. This will assist both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and cash-flow 
            arrangements over the next three years.

3.11.10 The Council has also been acting in an agency capacity, administering a series of 
business grants as part of a national scheme the Government designed to help   

           support local economies. As of writing, some £14.7m has been distributed to local 
        businesses qualifying under this scheme, which has been enabled through cross-

departmental working involving officers from the Finance, Revenues & Benefits and 
Economic Development teams.

3.11.11 The financial environment within which the Council operates continues to remain 
challenging and with significant uncertainty in 2020/21 and future years.  The Spending 
Review scheduled for 2020 is expected to be published in November 2020.  The 
Government confirmed on 21 October that this will cover a one-year period only and 
focus on prioritising the economic response to the coronavirus crisis.  The Fair Funding 
Review which was originally due to take place during 2020/21 has been postponed until 
after April 2021.

3.11.12 In addition to announcements about financial recovery and support packages arising  
           from the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government also intends to publish its recovery and 
           devolution paper in autumn this year. However, there has been press speculation that 
           this may now be deferred into 2021 to enable the current focus on the Covid-19 
           pandemic.

Page 23



12

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two.  This includes the revised original budget for 2020/21, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2020/21 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2020/21 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2020/21 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2020/21 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance             

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 898,870 0 898,870 549,180 (349,690)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 14,830 0 14,830 0 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 11,740 0 11,740 26,990 15,250
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 275,830 0 275,830 133,170 (142,660)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 0 108,690 0 (108,690)
Replacement Playground Programme 104,870 0 104,870 0 (104,870)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,702,910 0 4,702,910 1,110,620 (3,592,290)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 130,000 0 130,000 35,640 (94,360)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 29,440 0 29,440 25,710 (3,730)
Heritage Assets 388,580 0 388,580 6,950 (381,630)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 386,000 0 386,000 338,200 (47,800)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 24,110 0 24,110 5,510 (18,600)
LATCO working capital provision 500,000 0 500,000 274,990 (225,010)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Town Centre Improvements 67,590 0 67,590 70,350 2,760
Parking Software 74,750 0 74,750 0 (74,750)
Purchase of Freighters 400,000 0 400,000 0 (400,000)
Enforcement of Private Housing Standards 55,000 0 55,000 0 (55,000)
IT Infrastructure Assets 330,000 0 330,000 0 (330,000)
The Charter 0 14,156,770 14,156,770 0 (14,156,770)

19,365,200 14,156,770 33,521,970 2,577,310 (30,944,660)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21

 Essential Repairs to Buildings 

The following work has been completed this year:
- Refurbishment of First Floor Flats;
- The replacement of the main roof at Cascades Leisure Centre, for which the majority 

of costs will be reimbursed via an insurance claim.
- Flume repairs at Cascades Leisure Centre

On-going work to be funded from the Essential Repairs budget includes:

- LED lighting for the remainder of the council building - work is now being planned to 
replace the lighting in the basement and foyer areas;

- Cascade Ceiling repairs;
- Rebuilding a section of retaining boundary Churchyard Wall at St Peter’s and St 

Paul’s Church in Milton.

Page 24



13

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the infrastructure of both Cemeteries (such as 
litter bins) is currently being reviewed to establish the priority of improvements.

 Parrock Street Car park resurfacing – the resurfacing work has now been completed 
with all invoices have now been paid.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – the fleet replacement programme for 2020/21 is in 
place with vehicles having either been ordered or delivered.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – KCC approval has been received to Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street bus gate. Finalisation of the 
legal agreement is awaited prior to capital expenditure on the equipment being made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – the review of all flatted developments across 
the borough is underway to establish what bins are required to enable residents in flats 
to be able to recycle their waste. A project plan for the implementation of recycling bins 
in flats will be produced once the review has been completed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the administrative aspects of the trade 
waste service have been successfully transferred onto the Bartec Collective System. 
The team are currently looking at the digital options available for playground; open 
space and tree inspections.

 Replacement Playground Programme – a 20 year replacement programme is in 
place, however any renewals for 2020/21 are currently under review due to restrictions 
arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – the final specification for this work is being 
prepared and will then be tendered.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – as a result of lockdown restrictions arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic there have been delays to commencement of the private vehicle 
servicing operation. This has had a corresponding delay on work to redesign the 
Brookvale depot. As Covid-19 related restrictions are lifted, attentions are now returning 
to this scheme with an updated expenditure schedule to be prepared in due course.

 Property Acquisition Programme – this activity is currently on hold given the 
pandemic situation.  The Property Acquisition Strategy has been reviewed and property 
investment guidance updated to assist with future investment proposals and as a tool in 
the ongoing management and monitoring of the portfolio.  This updated guidance was 
considered by the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee and was adopted by Full 
Council on 6 October 2020.

 Land Acquisition Programme – the council continues to maintain an overview of 
strategic land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition 
can be considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating 
opportunities for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way – as a first step, a master planning exercise of the various 
landholdings in the wider area has been undertaken, considering complementary uses 
of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises 
benefits to the council and to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to 
improve access to and provision of services, green space and high quality housing.  A 
final report is being worked upon to include additional material received from Southern 

Page 25



14

Water, and a Supplementary Planning Document will be produced.  As such, the project 
has been re-profiled within the Capital Programme.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – the works to re-enliven the mall areas of the 
St George’s Centre have now been completed.  Further works at the site have been re-
profiled within the Capital Programme, in line with the latest projected pattern of 
development.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – the major internal and external works have now 
been completed and will be operational once the pools are fully re-open. Only minor 
follow up painting/snagging works remain, which will be completed in due course.

 Heritage Assets – Capital expenditure relates to surveys and site investigations in 
support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets, including repairs 
to the Larkin Memorial, Higham, a conservation management plan for Gravesend 
Cemetery and maintenance of the Gravesend Blockhouse.  Preparations have been 
made for works to the riverwall at St Andrew’s, which has been out to tender, with 
method options currently being reviewed.  Submissions to the National Heritage Lottery 
Fund have been on hold due to Covid-19, but it is an aspiration to submit applications to 
that fund, once supporting information is in place.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – Cascades and Cygnet Leisure Centres have both 
received brand new fitness kit which was installed prior to the re-opening of the sites on 
25 July. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, a decision has been made in partnership with 
GCLL not to replace the specialist spin bike equipment at the present time and so 
approximately £47k is left within the capital budget for future replacement, anticipated to 
take place later in 2020/21.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Parking Machines - Options are currently being appraised for replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines and recommendations will be put forward for 
decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs – the work has now been completed; no further costs are 
expected.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – in June 2020 the Cabinet considered and 
approved the release of funding to support the proposed working budget for Rosherville 
Limited. A request for drawdown of funds was subsequently received from the Chairman 
of Rosherville Limited. 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Trustees are continuing to seek external grant funding 
and evaluate tender submissions in order to take this scheme forward, and will return to 
officers in due course once pre-conditions of the Council’s loan agreement have been 
met.

 Town Centre Improvements – the capital budget expenditure to date has funded the 
acquisition of a MV7000 Gladiator Machine to assist with street cleansing and gum 
removal, and is now operational in the Town Centre.  The remaining budget will be 
spent on the purchase of 28 Big Belly bins as itemised in the report to Full Council on 25 
February 2020.

Page 26



15

 Parking Software – a supplier has been confirmed and an order has been placed for 
supply, installation and training in accordance with the figure in the Capital Budget.

 Purchase of Freighters – two new refuse collection vehicles are currently on order and 
due to be delivered during quarter three.  A replacement programme is in place to 
ensure refuse collection vehicles are replaced in a timely manner.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – the planned enforcement action was 
delayed as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. However, the contractor started on site 
on 5 October 2020 and the works are estimated to be completed within 12 weeks.

 IT Infrastructure Assets - new IT Storage and Disaster Recovery hardware and 
software have been purchased for £183k. The hardware components have been 
delivered to the site, but the installation by Dell engineers was initially postponed due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  However, engineers are now making visits on-site again and a 
project manager has been assigned to Gravesham who will be leading officers through 
the installation process.  Procurement of a new telephony platform is about to begin, 
with the first procurement working group due to take place in quarter three.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.3 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021           
£

Capital Receipts (596,280) (6,670) 602,950 0
S106 Capital Contributions (531,050) 0 67,590 (463,460)
Capital Grants unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)
Total Capital Resources (1,274,520) (6,670) 670,540 (610,650)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2020/21

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (2,970) 0 0 (2,970)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2020/21

Page 27



4.4 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          £

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2020/21                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2020/21

P
age 28



5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 25 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2020-21, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

5.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 September 2020 can be found at Appendix Three 
of this report.

5.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.67%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

5.4 Due to the current economic climate, investment returns have reduced but are being 
carefully monitored by Officers within Finance, who are in regular contract with the 
External Fund Managers.

5.5 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management advisors.

5.6 The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate unchanged on 6 

August.  It also kept unchanged the level of quantitative easing at £745bn. It’s forecasts 
were optimistic in terms of three areas.

 The fall in GDP in the first half of 2020 was revised from 28% to 23% 
(subsequently revised to -21.8%). This is still one of the largest falls in output of 
any developed nation.  However, it is only to be expected as the UK economy is 
heavily skewed towards consumer-facing services – an area which was 
particularly vulnerable to being damaged by lockdown.

 The peak in the unemployment rate was revised down from 9% in Q2 to 7½% by 
Q4 2020.

Page 29



18

 It forecasts that there would be excess demand in the economy by Q3 2022 
causing CPI inflation to rise above the 2% target in Q3 2022, (based on market 
interest rate expectations for a further loosening in policy). Nevertheless, even if 
the Bank were to leave policy unchanged, inflation was still projected to be above 
2% in 2023.

5.7 It also squashed any idea of using negative interest rates, at least in the next six months 
or so.  It suggested that while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would 
be “less effective as a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are 
worried about future loan losses.  It also has “other instruments available”, including QE 
and the use of forward guidance.

5.8 The MPC expected the £300bn of quantitative easing purchases announced between its 
March and June meetings to continue until the “turn of the year”.  This implies that the 
pace of purchases will slow further to about £4bn a week, down from £14bn a week at 
the height of the crisis and £7bn more recently.

5.9 The MPC acknowledged that the “medium-term projections were a less informative 
guide than usual” and the minutes had multiple references to downside risks, which 
were judged to persist both in the short and medium term.  However, localised lockdown 
measures should limit the amount of economic damage caused.  In addition, Brexit 
uncertainties ahead of the year-end deadline are likely to be a drag on recovery.  The 
wind down of the initial generous furlough scheme through to the end of October is 
another development that could cause the Bank to review the need for more support for 
the economy later in the year.  The Chancellor announced in late September a second 
six month package from 1st November of government support for jobs.  There was 
further help for the self-employed, freelancers and the hospitality industry.  However, this 
is a much less generous scheme than the furlough package and will inevitably mean 
there will be further job losses.

5.10 Overall, the pace of recovery is not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but a 
more elongated and prolonged one after a sharp recovery in June through to August 
which left the economy 11.7% smaller than in February. The last three months of 2020 
are now likely to show no growth as consumers will probably remain cautious in 
spending and uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations concluding 
at the end of the year will also be a headwind. If the Bank felt it did need to provide 
further support to recovery, then it is likely that the tool of choice would be more QE.

5.11 There will be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and travel by 
planes, trains and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for several years, 
or possibly ever.  There is also likely to be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has 
shown up how vulnerable long-distance supply chains are.  On the other hand, digital 
services have seen huge growth.

5.12 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy 
statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear 
evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and 
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if 
inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to 
raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be 
persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 30



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and 
assess full year projections to 31 March 2021. It also illustrates how the projected 
position affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the 
Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 31

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 32



MTFP V3 - BMR Q2 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 11,293,410 11,402,380 11,533,120 11,791,250 12,085,070 12,386,150 12,694,790 13,011,100 13,335,300 13,667,580 14,009,270 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,943,410 11,052,380 11,183,120 11,441,250 11,735,070 12,036,150 12,344,790 12,661,100 12,985,300 13,317,580 13,659,270 

Temporary Staff 375,010 375,010 384,380 393,980 403,830 413,930 424,280 434,890 445,760 456,910 468,330 

Wages 96,960 66,960 99,660 102,430 245,270 108,180 111,180 114,250 257,390 120,610 123,630 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,968,400 2,999,530 3,031,090 3,098,310 3,175,510 3,254,630 3,335,670 3,418,750 3,503,920 3,591,280 3,681,060 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,229,150 1,229,150 1,268,460 1,268,750 1,269,630 1,270,530 1,271,450 1,272,380 1,273,340 1,274,310 1,274,310 

Running Expenses 11,317,250 11,587,370 10,792,240 10,700,330 10,827,560 10,979,000 11,110,840 11,170,820 11,540,660 11,569,910 11,659,910 

Capital Financing 868,420 949,580 1,514,880 2,415,580 (447,550) 1,776,060 2,255,600 2,255,600 2,255,610 2,255,610 2,255,610 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (140,920) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,195,260) (3,195,260) (3,295,930) (3,320,810) (3,382,590) (3,460,300) (3,492,890) (3,554,150) (3,622,850) (3,587,920) (3,587,920)

Other Government Grants (2,298,850) (5,006,840) (2,064,060) (2,085,970) (2,108,260) (2,130,930) (2,153,990) (2,177,440) (2,201,300) (2,225,560) (2,250,040)

Investment Income (850,000) (745,430) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000)

Fees & Charges (7,419,580) (4,904,160) (7,191,270) (7,179,690) (7,163,890) (7,175,680) (7,138,930) (6,984,430) (6,990,050) (6,995,820) (6,995,820)

Rental Income (4,624,530) (4,096,450) (4,738,530) (4,722,060) (4,722,160) (4,653,740) (4,742,960) (4,871,820) (4,918,090) (4,963,490) (5,008,160)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,818,450 3,526,440 785,000 730,000 660,000 585,000 505,000 560,000 160,000 405,000 405,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (515,180) (763,680) (1,581,110) 51,360 9,810 134,020 453,620 459,680 356,200 375,520 375,520 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,543,950 13,904,900 10,279,020 13,021,540 10,650,230 13,291,510 14,434,680 14,899,070 15,167,670 15,685,720 16,122,480 

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) (3,266,080) (3,313,100) (3,360,920) (3,409,560) (3,459,020) (3,509,320) (3,560,480) (3,612,510) (3,665,250)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) (7,324,470) (7,515,620) (7,711,940) (7,913,510) (8,120,050) (8,331,980) (8,549,740) (8,773,050) (9,002,360)

Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund --   --   379,390 373,150 373,150 --   --   --   --   --   --   

270,100 270,100 603,640 (1,894,470) 720,980 (1,296,940) (2,184,110) (2,386,270) (1,004,740) (547,000) (547,000)

0 2,360,950 --   --   --   --   --   (0) 1,381,210 2,081,660 2,236,370 

0 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   1,381,210 700,450 154,710 

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2020-21

Original 

2020-21

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

Projected 

2021-22

P
age 33



MTFP V3 - BMR Q2 Appendix 2

2020-21    

Original

2020-21    

Projected

2021-22   

Original

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

8,350,750 8,350,750 6,862,910 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 270,100 270,100 603,640 (1,894,470) 720,980 (1,296,940) (2,184,110) (2,386,270) (1,004,740) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,223,860 9,223,860 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget (0) (2,360,950) - - - - - 0 (1,381,210) (2,081,660) (2,236,370)

9,223,860 6,862,910 8,013,550 6,666,080 7,934,060 7,184,120 5,547,010 3,707,740 1,868,790 (212,870) (2,449,240)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 159,560 - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320,080 930,580 850,580 850,580 835,580 935,580 1,035,580 1,135,580 1,235,580 1,335,580 1,435,580

Planning Policy Reserve 369,170 138,570 106,970 111,370 135,770 185,770 235,770 285,770 335,770 385,770 435,770

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649,040 1,818,940 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720

Decriminalisation (General) 184,640 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480 86,980

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 25,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 73,750 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 339,730 84,730 79,730 114,730 189,730 134,730 169,730 244,730 149,730 184,730 219,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,001,710 833,060 664,410 488,760 313,110 137,460 93,000 90,000 314,350 338,700 363,050

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 588,080 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Service Review Reserve 241,180 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000

Playgrounds Reserve 116,530 61,530 110,280 54,030 82,780 71,530 140,280 154,030 167,780 136,530 105,280

Woodville Repairs Reserve 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820 800,070

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 483,590 693,680 710,780 708,310 708,320 698,060 711,440 730,770 737,710 744,520 751,330

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve - 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Enterprise Zone Reserve - 151,340 297,850 439,430 575,980 707,410 833,610 954,460 1,069,870 1,179,730 1,289,590

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 19,264,660 16,383,840 15,953,370 14,657,260 15,935,050 15,319,130 14,135,640 12,753,050 11,270,300 9,564,160 7,703,310

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of £4.95 (2.44%) in 2020-21, then 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base increased by 1.19% for 2020-21 budget-setting, and subsequently adjusted for potential Covid-19 impact. Growth of 0.60% annually thereafter.

Salary costs budgeted to increase by 2% in 2020-21 - representative of the anticipated pay award, with incrememental growth also accounted for where applicable.

Negative RSG removed for 2020-21 as per Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement.  NHB Scheme payments flatlined from 2021-22 pending the outcome of funding reforms planned from April 2021.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line), including Enterprise Zone benefit.

Projected revenue costs of interest payable and MRP associated with developing a new Leisure Centre within the Borough included, assuming centre is operational in 2025.

General Fund miniumum working balance set at £2m from 2020/21 onwards, General Reserve balance set at £3.25m from 2020/21 onwards.

Borrowing/interest costs associated with the Charter Development (through Rosherville Limited) - the Council will incurr these costs in the first 3-4 years of the scheme, with repayment expected in 2023/24.

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year               

P
age 34



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 868 11/10/19 09/10/20 Lancashire County Council Tradition Maturity 1.1500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 136 01/11/19 30/10/20 National Westminster Bank plc (RFB) King & Shaxson Maturity 0.9900% -5,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.0500% -8,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0375% -40.70

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.0099% -7,158,872.88

Deposit MMF 6000Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.0375% -1,427,703.30

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.0844% -4,866,000.00

MMF Total 0.0398% -13,452,616.88

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,158,884.82

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,585,955.36

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,798,584.43

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -501,293.28

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -4,903,368.36

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,743,309.87

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,557,560.14

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -18,248,956.25

Deposit Total 0.2343% -40,701,573.13

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -40,701,573.13

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2020

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 22/10/20 14:46

P
age 35



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 22/10/20 14:46

P
age 36



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 9 November / 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter Two 2020/21

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the second quarter to 30 September 2020 as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as 
set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet the anticipated reduction in rental 
income.  This is partially offset with the projected underspend within salaries.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £1.5m, with the level of reserves being £3.03m 
at start of year and projected to be £1.5m at year-end.

2.3. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.4. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £22.4m, with    
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter Two of £6.99m. Capital budgets 
totalling £1.816m have been carried forward to 2020/21, relating to the maintenance of the 
Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities 
Grants.

Page 38



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 2020.  As at 
30 September 2020 the forecast reflects a net adverse variance to original budget of 
£178k. The additional funds required will be met by an increased contribution from general 
reserves.

Description Original Budget 
2020/21 (£)

Forecast   
2020/21 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,037,100 5,779,400 (257,700)
Repairs and Maintenance 8,022,810 7,952,810 (70,000)
Depreciation 6,888,800 7,015,300 126,500
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 662,300 662,300 0
Capital Finance 8,516,010 8,516,010 0
Sub Total Expenditure 30,127,020 29,925,820 (201,200)
Rents of Dwellings (25,812,570) (25,477,570) 335,000
Other Rental Income (33,550) (33,550) 0
Service Charges (2,115,620) (2,115,620) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (114,200) (70,200) 44,000
Sub Total Income (28,737,420) (28,358,420) 379,000
Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,389,600) (1,567,400) (177,800)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2020/21

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £257k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £331k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2020/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services. 
For the first six months to 30 September 2020, actual staffing spend was £331k lower 
than budgeted. 

3.2.2. Staff Pay Award: £36k adverse variance - the staff pay award for 2020/21 was agreed 
at a higher rate than anticipated and has resulted in an increased expense of £36k 
attributable to salaries.

3.2.3. Capita Housing System:  £38k adverse variance - the current housing system, Capita, 
will be supported beyond the previously advised sunset date.  The negotiated fee of £75k 
includes a premium for the service extension.  Some of this cost can be met from the 
existing budget for software support (£37k), reducing the impact of the negotiated fee to 
an expected overspend of £38k.  This will provide support to March 2021, enabling 
housing to provide an uninterrupted service to tenants while the development and 
implementation of the new system is underway.  

Page 39



4

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £70k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance: £70k favourable variance – The Responsive Repairs Team, in 
line with Government guidance, carried out emergency works only in the first quarter of 
the financial year.  Since July the team have worked tirelessly to respond to the 
outstanding repairs that were not deemed emergencies in the lockdown period.  In these 
challenging time, the team have continued to deliver efficiencies and savings in its 
operations that have resulted in an expected favourable variance of £70k.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - £126k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation – £126k - adverse variance – the depreciation budget for 2020/21 is based 
on the asset valuation as at December 2019.  However, there is a revised depreciation 
charge for 2020/21 which reflects the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2020.  This has 
resulted in an increased charge to depreciation of £126k.

3.5. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £335k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Rents on Dwellings - £300k – adverse variance – due to the impact of Covid-19, it is 
expected that there will be a negative impact on rent income in 2020/21.  The rental 
income continues to be monitored and if required, an appropriate adjustment will be made 
to the bad debt provision.

3.5.2. Void losses - £35k – adverse variance – during the initial lockdown period, Council 
properties that became vacant were not able to be re-let within the usual timescales, 
therefore during this period there was a loss of rental income which is estimated to be in 
the region of £35k.

3.6. OTHER INCOME - £44k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Other Income – £44k - adverse variance – as a result of Covid-19, commercial income, 
income for hall lettings and investment returns will be affected.  At this stage, it is 
estimated to be in the region of some £44k.

3.7. Working Balances and Reserves
3.7.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 

balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2020/21 (1,567,400)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2020) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance 1,432,600

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 1,567,400

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 September 2020) 3,000,000
Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.7.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Page 40



5

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020   
(£)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)      
(£)

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
(£)

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2021   
(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)

Total (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2020/21 is £22,366,960, of which £20,658,970 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,707,990 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £941,660 and £875,190, respectively that are carried forward from 
2019/20.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2020/21, with £7,330,110 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  An additional £929,000 capital budgets have been agreed including the 
replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play Equipment.  
The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £12,399,860 allocated 
for this purpose.

4.3. Quarter Two has seen the easing of lockdown measures enabling the majority of the 
programmes to re-commenced in accordance with Central Government guidelines.  The  
Kitchen and Bathroom programmes are set to commence in Quarter Three.

4.4. Due to the preparatory work completed in Quarter One by the contractors and surveyors, 
and the additional resources dedicated to the delivery of our programmes, the works 
remain on target for completion by the end of Quarter Four.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2020-21 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,122,450 2,964,050 (1,158,400)
B Improvement Programmes 1,702,350 916,310 (786,040)
C Health & Safety Works 1,305,310 905,230 (400,080)
D Major Void Works 200,000 21,310 (178,690)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,399,860 1,583,563 (10,816,297)
F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 361,590 (238,410)
G Replacement Play Equipment 103,750 0 (103,750)
H Bin Housing 13,190 0 (13,190)
I CCTV 37,060 0 (37,060)
J Fire Doors 175,000 0 (175,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 20,658,970 6,752,053 (13,906,917)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 1,707,990 247,940 (1,460,050)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 22,366,960 6,999,993 (15,366,967)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2020/21

4.5. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter Two 2020/21:

Page 41



6

4.5.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 29 kitchen replacements on void properties, planned programme is due to re-
commence in October 2020;

 12 bathroom replacements on void properties, bathroom programme re-
commencement to be confirmed;

 778 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, minor 
works and upgrades to consumer units;

 37 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 Windows and doors renewals to flats and the communal windows at Carl Ekman 

are 100% complete.  A further 6 properties had windows and door renewals 
completed.

4.5.2. Across the Replacement Programmes, £200k is expected to be rolled forward into 
2021/22 to enable the backlog of programmed works due to Covid-19, to be completed.

4.5.3. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 204 properties had new central heating systems/boilers installed;

 3 properties had new storage heating installed;

 4412 properties had CO (carbon monoxide) detectors installed;

 34 Wet room installations have been completed under the aids and adaptations 
programme.

4.5.4. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Asbestos management removals completed for communal areas at various sites;

 Carl Ekman Sprinkler installation – 99% of properties completed with communal 
areas and plant room works outstanding;

 15 door entry systems upgrades have been completed;

 23 domestic asbestos surveys completed.

4.6. New Build (Ref D)

4.6.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter Two:

 Construction continues on the former Whitehill Tenants Associations Club site 
where Westridge Construction Limited will deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments 
and 8 x 3 bed houses.  However, works has been severely disrupted due to the 
Global Pandemic Covid-19, with reduced labour on site and several sub-
contractors scaling back their operations.  Further delays with delivery of materials 
and connections of services has extended completion of the houses to December 
with the apartment block expected to hand over in March 2021;

Page 42



7

 Westridge Construction took possession of the Valley Drive Site in February 2020 
that will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed 
general needs apartments. However, disconnection of the mains services had 
been delayed due to the statutory undertakers suspending all non-emergency 
works due to Covid-19.  Electrical disconnection has taken place and gas 
disconnection will be carried out mid-November.  Demolition of the bedsits and 
garage block will follow disconnection.  All pre-commencement planning conditions 
have been discharged and following disconnection of all services, demolition will 
commence.  The development completion date is now expected in 2022;

 Westridge Construction took possession of the site at St Patrick’s Gardens in May 
to construct 23 x 1 and 2 bed apartments.  Construction is underway and residents 
are being kept updated by Westridge;

 Constable Road planning permission to construct 7 x 1 bed bungalows and new 
play area to the open amenity space. A contractor has been selected following a 
tender process via the South East consortium.  A report recommending approval to 
enter into a build contract will be taken to Cabinet in due course.

4.6.2. Our partners continue to work hard to maintain business continuity and keep the council 
informed of any changes and advice from Government and WHO, that could impact the 
business plans. The underlying message was the health and wellbeing of all staff, clients, 
and third-party suppliers was of paramount importance, and any measures in respect of 
social distancing and safe working practice would be implemented without fail.  
Following government guidance, increased labour on site has meant that work has 
progressed significantly despite the many challenges.  There are still some delays with 
the supply chain but our partners are continuously reviewing and evolving in order that 
construction can continue.

4.6.3. Despite the current impact from the Covid-19 pandemic, the council remains determined 
to deliver on its agenda of increasing the housing supply and continues to work with it’s 
stakeholders in the identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable 
homes.

4.6.4. The Housing Development Team are currently working on approximately 20 sites that are 
at various stages of the planning, design and build process from initial conception to 
works on site.

4.6.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2020, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.6.6. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

4.6.7. The Council has made an offer, subject to property survey searches, to purchase 147 
Wrotham Road, which has been accepted.  The intention is to use the Christianfields 
Overage monies to fund the purchase from the open market with the balance being 
sourced from existing HRA resources.  The property’s intended use will be interim 
housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough.  

Page 43



8

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-22
Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-22
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-23

Q1 453,610 1,058,420 1,512,030 46,124,160 30-Jun-23
Q2 212,200 495,130 707,330 46,831,490 30-Sep-23

13,837,240 32,286,920 46,124,160

Table 5: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref E)
4.7.1. Through the IT Project Manager (Housing System), work on the implementation of the 

new housing system has progressed well over Quarter Two, with some significant 
milestones being achieved.  Various teams within housing have been actively mapping 
out what their new processes will look like in the future, and those processes are now built 
into the new Housing Module.

4.7.2. A training environment has been created within the new system and a successful upload 
of data from the existing system into the training environment has been completed.  Now 
that some data is available in the new system, training for key officers is well underway.

4.7.3. Robust testing of the core Housing Module is due to take place throughout November 
2020, and assuming this goes well and any errors identified can be resolved, the Housing 
Module is likely to go live in January 2021, which is ahead of schedule.  The new system 
will be run in parallel with the existing system for a period of time to enable comparison of 
data, ensuring the accuracy of output.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20 year replacement plan has been agreed and included within the Housing Asset 
Business Plan.  However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been a delay with the 
commencement of the works.  The intention is to begin the programme of works set out 

Page 44



9

for 2020/21, however, it is possible that a proportion of the works may be carried forward 
into the new financial year.    

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2020/21 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,707,980 which includes carry forward from 
2019/20 of £875,180.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.

4.9.3. With works being delayed due to Covid-19, there has been considerable progress made 
in Quarter Two including new referrals and the completion of the adaptations which had 
been approved prior to lockdown.

4.9.4. Safe distance working continues to apply to any works carried out to ensure the welfare of 
the target client base.  KCC Adult Social Care have now progressed the backlog of initial 
referral visits and continue to carry out assessments on a virtual platform.

4.9.5. There is a strong emphasis on processing single adaption grants via the small grants 
application to enable works to be processed in a shorter timeframe.  This will help reduce 
the length of time residents will wait if they make a grant application which incorporates a 
number of adaptions into one request.

4.9.6. A total of 72 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 6 grant cases were approved

 8 households had works completed

 2 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 56 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.9.7. The Council distributed £80,481 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify for 
Disabled Facility Grant assistance as well as other grants associated with the Better Care 
Fund.

4.9.8. A total of 54 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 52 people to have better managed hospital discharges into a 
safer home environment and a further 2 people have been assisted with energy 
measures.  This quarter has continued to see a significant increase in the number of 
people being discharged from hospital, compared to previous periods, as hospitals were 
facilitating quicker discharges to manage the pressures on the NHS due to the continuing 
Covid-19 pandemic.

4.9.9. Work around hoarding cases is especially of concern where patients are waiting to be 
discharged and to prevent them from continuing to remain the hospital.  The department 
has been working with the social care team, agents and families to ensure support and 
measures are provided as quickly as possible within the home.  Access is available in the 
form of to one to one support to best understand and assist residents with this specific 
issue.

Page 45



10

 

4.10. Capital Resources

4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020 (£)

Income 
2020/21 (£)

Use of Funding 
2020/21 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,160,010) (259,490) 585,310 (834,190)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (86,180) 0 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (86,170) (6,888,800) 6,550,520 (424,450)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (849,390) 0 694,200 (155,190)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,443,440) (2,928,210) 2,278,100 (7,093,550)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (426,260) 426,260 0
Disabled Facility Grants (875,220) (832,800) 1,707,990 (30)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 766,000 0
General Reserve (revenue) (3,037,750) 0 1,567,400 (1,470,350)
Borrowing 0 0 8,102,500 0
Total (16,877,160) (11,335,560) 22,678,280 (13,636,940)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2020/21

4.10.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Three to this report.
 

4.11. HRA Business Planning

4.11.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

4.11.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

4.11.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two 
and Three.

4.11.4. On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on all 
new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appeared to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given the 
cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action effectively made the PWLB the 
lender of last resort for local authorities.

4.11.5. That increase was then reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020, when 
the Government announced that local authorities could borrow for HRA schemes from the 
PWLB at up 120 basis point (1.2%) below standard rates.  At the same time the 
Government announced a consultation on the future of the PWLB.  The Council 
responded to the Consultation which closed on 31 July and we are currently awaiting the 
results and details of any potential changes.

Page 46



11

4.11.6. Ordinarily the Council assumes 30 properties will be sold per annum, however, in light of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, this is likely to be reduced to around 20 for the current financial 
year.

4.11.7. Further work will be undertaken over the coming weeks to review the impact the above 
changes will have on the Business Plan as well as other base assumptions within the 
model.

Page 47



12

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 48

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


13

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q2

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 1,702 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,305 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 1,769 3,554 4,575 7,652 5,523 5,747 5,990 6,245 6,510

Kitchen 0 888 887 919 956 998 1,038 1,082 1,128 1,176

Bathroom 0 325 325 337 350 365 380 396 413 431

Heating Installations 0 1,141 1,069 1,108 1,152 1,203 1,251 1,304 1,360 1,417

Disabled Adaptations 0 522 509 527 549 573 596 621 647 675

Asbestos Management 0 60 71 74 77 80 83 87 91 94

Electrical Testing 0 1,181 809 527 549 573 596 621 647 675

Precaution Works 0 679 680 316 329 344 357 373 388 405

Communal 0 566 658 682 709 740 770 802 836 872

Major Voids 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Effects of COVID-19 0 (200) 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 (1,231) (835) (3,565) (1,238) (1,293) (1,352) (1,413) (1,477)

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,330 7,130 7,411 8,230 8,759 9,160 9,525 9,925 10,342 10,778

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 104 104 24 24 24 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 13 13 36 13 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 37 37 18 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 175 175 175 175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 929 929 253 214 24 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 0 (72) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 3,909 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 4,488 3,772 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chichester Rise 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development Enabler 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 2,816 1,886 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 0 295 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 194 1,696 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 0 984 250 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 1 348 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,400 1,017 0 0 6,011 6,405 10,918 11,403 11,935 0

New Build Programme Unidentified Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure Total 12,400 12,400 8,981 250 6,011 6,405 10,918 11,403 11,935 0

New Build Historic Adjustment

Total Capital Expenditure 20,659 20,459 16,645 8,694 14,793 15,565 20,443 21,328 22,278 10,778

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (7,583) (7,245) (7,664) (7,403) (7,640) (7,911) (8,168) (8,433) (8,707) (8,990)

RTB - Allowable Debt (752.887) (426.262) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB Buyback Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,315.627) (585.311) (1,073) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (627) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,278.098) (2,707.316) (1,846) (75) (1,803) (1,922) (3,275) (3,421) (3,581) 0

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 (766) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (8,102.500) (8,102.500) (5,507) (409) (4,542) (4,925) (8,193) (8,666) (9,183) (981)

Total Financing (20,659) (20,459) (16,645) (8,694) (14,793) (15,565) (20,443) (21,328) (22,278) (10,778)

Net Over/Under Financing (0) 0 0.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Original 

Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 6,037 5,779 6,043 6,140 6,250 6,382 6,496 6,626 6,759 6,894

Repairs and Maintenance 8,023 7,953 8,031 8,159 8,306 8,481 8,633 8,806 8,982 9,162

Depreciation 6,889 7,015 7,154 7,403 7,640 7,911 8,168 8,433 8,707 8,990

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 662 662 663 674 686 700 713 727 741 756

Capital Finance 7,889 7,815 7,734 8,096 8,780 9,391 9,790 10,101 10,451 10,706

RCCO 627 627 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,127 29,851 29,625 30,471 31,663 32,864 33,800 34,693 35,641 36,508

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,813) (25,478) (26,443) (27,533) (28,551) (29,727) (30,559) (31,414) (32,290) (33,189)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34)

Service Charges (2,116) (2,116) (2,140) (2,197) (2,260) (2,332) (2,398) (2,468) (2,539) (2,613)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (114) (70) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114)

Total Income (28,737) (28,358) (29,393) (30,539) (31,620) (32,867) (33,767) (34,691) (35,638) (36,610)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,390) (1,493) (233) 68 (43) 3 (33) (3) (2) 102

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (1,390) (1,493) (233) 68 (43) 3 (33) (3) (2) 102

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 1,610 1,507 2,767 3,068 2,957 3,003 2,967 2,997 2,998 3,102

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 1,390 1,493 233 (68) 43 (3) 33 3 2 (102)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 3,038 3,038 1,545 1,312 1,380 1,337 1,340 1,307 1,304 1,302

Use to support revenue position (763) (866) (233) 0 (43) 0 (33) (3) (2) 0

Use in capital financing (627) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 68 0 3 0 0 0 102

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,648 1,545 1,312 1,380 1,337 1,340 1,307 1,304 1,302 1,404

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Draft report to Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11th  November 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Mid-Year Review of the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee with mid-year progress information 
in respect of all risks recorded in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register, which can be found at 
appendix two of this report.  

Recommendations:
Members are requested to:

1. Note the progress made, as set out in appendix three, in managing or mitigating each 
risk recorded within the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register.

2. Voice any concerns regarding the extent of progress that has been made so that if 
required; these concerns can be raised at the next Cabinet meeting.

3. Start preparing for the development of the 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register, putting 
forward suggestions for any current risks that should be removed and/or propose any 
new and emerging risks that should be considered for assessment.

1. Introduction and Background

1.1     The 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register was approved by Council on 12th May 2020 
and is attached at appendix two to this report for information. Six strategic risks 
were identified as being above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold and were 
therefore included in the register:  

1. Ongoing financial viability of the council
2. Changes in national priorities and legislative change
3. Organisational capacity/resilience
4. Universal Credit
5. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or, corruption of data
6. Investment Risk

1.2 The council’s Risk Management Strategy states that the Finance and Audit 
Committee has a responsibility to monitor the effective development and operation 
of risk management and corporate governance in the council. This report is 
therefore presented to the committee to enable Members to monitor the impact of 
management actions specified in the Corporate Risk Register at the mid-year 
point and inform the process to develop the Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22.

Page 55 Agenda Item 9



2

2.  Monitoring of actions - Corporate Risk Register 2020-21 

     2.1 The Corporate Risk Register for 2020-21 included a number of actions intended to 
enable the council to effectively manage or mitigate each risk. Appendix three of 
this report provides an update on the activity and includes information such as:

 The risk background, consequences, controls and management actions 
implemented to eliminate reduce or transfer risk as agreed in the 2020-21 
Corporate Risk Register; 

 Required Management Action as originally documented in the 2020-21 
Corporate Risk Register  

 An update of the Management Action as at Mid-Year Review. 

 A colour coded quarterly risk assessment to illustrate how effective risk 
management actions have been in controlling risks, where Red is 
inadequate; Amber is Satisfactory and Green is Good.

   2.2 In developing the Corporate Risk Register and the actions to manage or mitigate 
the risks, consideration was given to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the end of the transition period for the UK leaving the European Union on 31 
December 2020.  Actions intended to respond to the impacts of such events were 
included in Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council, Risk 2: Changes in 
national priorities and legislative change and Risk 3: Organisational capacity and 
resilience.

 2.3 Members of the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to review the 
effectiveness of management action as at mid-year and discuss whether or not 
any further action is necessary to manage or mitigate each risk. Where it is 
considered that sufficient control action is not being taken, concerns will need to 
be raised so that they can be referred to Cabinet for further consideration

3.   Development of the 2021-22 Corporate Risk Register

3.1   The development of the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 will 
commence in December 2020.  Members are therefore asked to put forward 
suggestions for any new or emerging risks for consideration and/or recommend 
which of the existing risks should be carried forward.  By way of assistance, the 
risks listed below were considered for inclusion in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk 
Register, but were omitted for the reasons stated:

1. Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union- This risk 
was present in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register; however it was 
considered difficult to assess the risks or benefits that may be associated 
with the UK leaving the European Union for the 2020-21 register.  Given the 
nature of council activities being carried out, it was considered that risks 
associated with the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European 
Union, would be captured in Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and 
legislation.

2. Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act -This risk was also 
present in the 2019-20 -Risk Register, however following review of risks in 
response to the implementation of The Act; it was considered that the 
council had implemented effective systems and procedures in order to 

Page 56



3

actively deliver the additional duties that were required.  Further to a 
reassessment of this risk, the score reduced to “medium”. 

3. Civil Risk Major Disaster- Assessment of this risk awarded it a Medium 
score, as under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, the Kent Resilience 
Forum (KRF) partners are responsible for assessing Civil/ Major Disaster 
risks in the Kent area. KRF partners achieve this by working together with 
other relevant authorities such as Gravesham Borough Council to develop 
the 'Kent Community Risk Register'. The final register is endorsed by the 
strategic representatives of all KRF partners.

4. Increased exposure to risk to Gravesend Borough Council from 
shared services- Assessment of controls associated with the management 
of associated risks generated a Medium Score.

5. Non-delivery of key developments The council made a clear commitment 
in the recently adopted Corporate Plan to work towards a regenerated 
Gravesend and Northfleet, delivery of new homes and to stimulate 
economic growth. The assessment of controls in place to militate against 
potential risks that may prevent delivery of these objectives found the risk to 
generate a medium risk score. 

4.  Background Papers

   4.1  There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 57

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential issues 
associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the council moving 
forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with legislative change to 
ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the Corporate 
Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key corporate risks identified 
within the Corporate Risk register and a specific update against this risk is included 
within appendix three.

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 58

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor strategic risks 
contributes to the delivery of Corporate Plan Objective #3: Progress: drive service 
improvement and corporate governance.

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Corporate Risk Register 

2020-2021 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

Page 61



2 | P a g e  

  
Gravesham’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management 
exercise conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of 
the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The key risks facing the council were 
identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit Committee 
Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other senior 
managers. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls 
currently in place to respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to 
properly manage these risks.  The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement 
are assessed as one of the following: 

 

 Good – actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 Adequate – whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work 
that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk. 

 Inadequate – the action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and 
therefore further work is required. 

 

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk 
for the council: 

The Risk Matrix 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

Page 62



3 | P a g e  

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact    

 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years. 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the 
council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public 
could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and the 
council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although 
would not threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which would 
take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this 
would be manageable within the council’s existing financial 
resources.  There may be disruption to services and possibly 
delays in achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor 
media coverage which could affect the council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will 
impact on the council’s reputation. 

Page 63



4 | P a g e  

All risks identified for 2020-2021 and their assessments are plotted in the Heat Map and are 
summarised in the table below: 

 
Table of Risks Assessed for 2020-2021 

Risk 

Ref
Risk Decription 

Inherent 

Risk

Residual 

Risk

Target 

Risk

1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9

2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12

3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 15 12

4 Universal Credit 15 12 9

5 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 9

6 Investment Risk 15 10 9

7 Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union -- -- --

8 Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 15 9 6

9 Civil risk- major disaster 8 6 6

10
Increased exposure to risk to Gravesham Borough Council from shared 

services 
9 6 6

11 Non-delivery of key developments 12 6 6  

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register.   

 

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to conduct 
similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against management 
actions recorded in the register will be reported to Finance and Audit Committee on a six 
monthly basis and the register will be reviewed by Cabinet annually, 

 
As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks.

Very 

High
5 6 2,3

High 4 1,4

Medium 3 10, 11 8 5

Low 2 9

Very 

Low
1

1 2 3 4High Risk

Medium Risk

Low Risk

  
L

ik
e
li

h
o

o
d

IMPACT 

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

Page 64



5 | P a g e  

 

The Risk On-going financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk 
Background 

Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest 
of local government, has experienced significant and sustained cuts to 
its funding whilst demand on services has risen.  By the end of 2019-
20 the council will have experienced a cash reduction in government 
funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 (excluding the 
funding derived from the New Homes Bonus Scheme). 
The council has faced these challenges head-on and followed a multi-
faceted, proactive programme of activity to reduce its budget 
requirement and ensure a balanced budget which is based on sound 
assumptions for how planned expenditure will be met.  This activity 
has been successfully delivered, resulting in the council being able to 
present a fully balanced budget for the current Medium Term Financial 
Plan which requires no additional savings to be delivered in the plan 
period to 2028-29.   
Central Government have released a Local Government Provisional 
Finance Settlement for one year only relating to 2020-21, with no 
certainty on the future of local government funding after this.  The 
forthcoming year will see the 2020 Spending Review (setting the 
envelope of funding available to local government) and decisions 
being taken by Central Government on a number of other local 
government funding reforms that are planned for introduction from 
April 2021, including the Fair Funding Review and reforms to the 
current Business Rates Retention System.  There is also significant 
uncertainty regarding the potential impacts on the economy after the 
UK leave the European Union.   

Consequences  Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the 
future level of government funding support and how the business 
rates retention scheme will operate in practice.  

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the 
council (including retained business rates) beyond the levels 
projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures.  

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from 
changes to funding and any redesigned business rates scheme.  

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of 
delivery, potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation.  

 Financial savings not achieved.  

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted.  

 Problems stored up for the future.  

 Minimum working balance of £2 million is not maintained.  

 New legislative requirements not met.  

 Uncertainty over future large projects.  

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate.  

Page 65



6 | P a g e  

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for 
Business Rates payers without compensation from central 
government.  

Controls already 
in place  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place. 

 Medium Term Financial Plan in place. 

 Robust Budget Monitoring arrangements in place. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Budget monitoring process. 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

 

Continue to review reserves and working balance 
annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves as a 
means to manage cash flow, future requirements and 
unexpected events. 

Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives and 
the core principles that underpin these. 

Development of a new Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for the council once the outcomes of the Fair Funding 
Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme design are 
known. 

Director 
(Corporate 
Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services) 

Feb 
2021 

 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.  

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme once known. 

Director 
(Corporate 
Services)  

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

 

Continue the programme of development for the council’s 
Financial Management System.  

New performance measure implemented to assess 
compliance with budget monitoring arrangements.  

Continue to proactively respond to central government 
consultations on funding for local government. 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services)  

 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



7 | P a g e  

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislation Risk No. 2 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

All Portfolios 

Risk 
Background 

Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of 
legislation and national priorities’ including Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) to ensure that it is best placed to 
respond to any implications for its operations or, the Borough more 
widely.  
Following the General Election in December 2019, the Queen’s 
Speech introduced the government’s formal programme of 
prospective legislation. Alongside key policy announcements, 
prospective legislation that impacts upon local government service 
provision include: 

 Domestic Abuse Bill. 

 Employment Bill. 

 Serious Violence Bill. 

 Sentencing Bill. 

 Environment Bill. 

 Telecommunications Infrastructure Bill. 

 Renters’ Reform Bill. 

 Fire Safety Bill, Building Safety Bill. 

 Armed Forces (Legal Protections) Bill. 

 European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Bill. 
 
On enactment of relevant legislation, the council will potentially face 
new statutory duties, responsibilities or standards with which to 
adhere, potentially challenging existing services and working 
practices.  
Additionally, in January 2020 the European Withdrawal Agreement Bill 
was enacted by parliament. Whilst the broader social and economic 
uncertainty associated with delivery of ‘Brexit’ has subsided, there 
remains inherent risk relating to the transition period and the next 
phase of withdrawal. The Government’s trade negotiations, both in 
terms of timescale and final content, present risks in terms of further 
legislative developments and, more directly, the potential to cause 
financial instability to council income and investments via national 
economic uncertainty.  
In respect of NSIPs, the current proposals that are being progressed 
and have potential impact on the Borough include: 

 Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham and Thurrock) 

 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury) 

 London Resort (in Dartford /Gravesham) 
 
The council will need to ensure that it has access to sufficient and 
appropriate resources, to enable it to effectively respond to these 
proposals as further information is released.  
 

Page 67



8 | P a g e  

Consequences  Change of strategic direction for the council.  

 Breakdown in governance controls and processes. 

 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for 
legal challenge.  

 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to 
deliver the corporate objectives and policy commitments within 
the Corporate Plan.  

 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and 
effectiveness of the council’s supply chain. 

 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a 
failure to meet community needs and expectations.  

 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, 
sickness absence and future recruitment and retention.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and 
community stakeholders / reputational damage. 

 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses 
to consultations and other processes to be made quickly. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Timely policy insight. 

 Commitment to informing government policy. 

 Proactive engagement with partner agencies. 

 Planning for Business Continuity. 

 Establishment of new Member training development plan. 

 Maintain proactive briefing and information sharing arrangements 
between council departments, Members and staff to ensure an 
effective and coordinated response to significant projects in the 
Borough 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Plan 2019-23.  
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team  

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

Circulation of monthly policy briefings and timely 
legislative updates. 

Corporate 
Performance Manager 

Monthly until 
March 2021 

Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), 
deliver proactive responses to formal 
consultations and policy papers from central 
government to ensure Gravesham’s strategic 
position is effectively represented.  

Wider Management 
Team 

 

On-going to 
March 2021 
 

Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s 
partnership working arrangements and sustaining 
Gravesham’s involvement with key stakeholder 
agencies and working groups on a national and 
local basis including (but not exclusive to): 

- Local Government Association.  

Wider Management 
Team 

On-going to 
March 2021 

Page 68



9 | P a g e  

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

- District Councils Network.  

- Kent Finance Officers Group. 

- Kent Resilience Forum. 

  

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

Wider Management 
Team 

March 2021 

Develop a Member Induction Programme to 
support all Members elected and continue to 
deliver a training and development plan to 
Members. 

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider 

Management Team 
March 2021 

Develop effective working practices between 
departments to enable information sharing and 
coordination of responses on behalf of the 
council.  
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular 
updates to be provided to Members 

Director (Planning & 
Development) 

March 2021 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



10 | P a g e  

The Risk Organisational capacity/ resilience Risk No. 3 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk Background The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of 
arrangements to help the effective direction of the council’s finite 
staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the 
cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-contractual overtime 
(except in exceptional circumstances).  This is intended to reduce the 
risk of key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and 
improving organisational capacity and resilience where needed, 
identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and 
developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and staff.  
In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to 
manage the aging operational buildings from which it delivers services 
to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its 
ways of working and the methods of access preferred by service 
users. 

The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope 
with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe 
weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services 
can continue to be delivered, particularly in light of the current 
coronavirus outbreak. 

Consequences  Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed 
on resources, this in turn could lead to the council struggling to 
meet changes in demand for services. 

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which 
in turn will add pressures on already stretched recourses. 

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, 
which in turn can reduce staff motivation, create low morale and 
increase sickness and stress levels. 

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support 
to overcome the problems that result from increased 
organisational stress. 

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls 
could result due to there being insufficient staff resources to carry 
out essential roles and responsibilities. 

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also 
possible. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Effective allocation of resources. 

 Flexible working arrangements. 

 Provision of training and support.  

 Workforce Support. 

 Operational Building Management.  

 Business Continuity Framework 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Plan 2019-23.  
Workforce Development Plan. 
Business Continuity Plans  

Page 70



11 | P a g e  

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

Management Team to continue to receive all requests 
to fill vacant posts. 
Management Team to continue to receive periodic 
information regarding staff resourcing costs v budget, 
which includes information on vacancies to enable 
discussion on this.  
Annual review of vacant positions within the authority.  
Annual review of the delivery of existing shared 
services to confirm that these continue to work well, 
provide resilience and offer career opportunities for 
staff.  
Continue to develop and use technology where 
possible to free up resources that could be allocated to 
other tasks. 

Management 
Team 

On-going to 
March 2021 

Consider ways in which the workforce can work more 
flexibly, including shared services, work patterns, 
appropriate remote working and use of available 
technology.  
Continue to offer apprenticeship positions that focus on 
ensuring that, at the end of the training contract, 
apprentices are ‘job ready’.  Seek to train apprentices in 
areas where the council may be having difficulties in 
recruitment. 

Management 
Team 

On-going to 
March 2021 

Retain a specific budget for supporting staff training and 
development.  
In line with the Investors In People (IIP) Action plan, 
ensure annual appraisals are carried out for all staff to 
identify training needs, alongside periodic one to one 
meetings to monitor performance and identify any 
further training needs. 
Continue to offer all employees e-learning and face to 
face training opportunities via the HRA Shared Service 
iShare training system. 

Director 
Communities 

On-going to 
March 2021 

Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the 
workforce on key issues regarding the Council and give 
employees the opportunity to raise any concerns they 
may have. 
Deliver the IIP action plan.   
Continue to actively proactively and positively engage 
with Trade Unions. 
Continue communication to promote Occupational 
Health, the Employee Assistance Programme and the 
Mental Health Champions as further confidential 
support services for staff. 

Director 
Communities 

January 2021 

Asset Management Group to maintain oversight of the 
operational buildings used to deliver council services. 

Director 
Communities 

January 2021 

Review all Business Continuity plans on an annual 
basis to ensure that they are up to date and fit for 
purpose. 

Wider 
Management 

Team 
January 2021 

Page 71



12 | P a g e  

Develop existing information for local businesses or 
organisations with regards to the importance for their 
own resilience during a potential Business Continuity 
event that affects their business and staff. 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 72



13 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 4 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Performance & Administration (PA) 

Risk 
Background 

Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic 
form on the 18 May 2015 for single residents only in prescribed 
circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk 
score. Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 
December 2017.  
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and was 
available for all types of claimant with the exception of a few 
categories.  
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) had overall 
responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, although the Council 
has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish 
to claim. 
From 1 April 2019 the DWP sub contracted Citizens Advice to do the 
Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support directly to 
residents. Implementation of additional analytical software to support 
the Housing Income Team, along with regular income collection 
performance monitoring, review of income collection procedures and 
audits and early intervention to support tenants has assisted in dealing 
with this risk adequately. 
The Work and Pensions Secretary announced Feb 2020 that the full 
roll-out of Universal Credit has been delayed from Dec 2023 to Sept 
2024, as data now suggests that natural migration over to Universal 
Credit through changes to people’s circumstances, is happening less 
frequently then previously predicted. 

Consequences There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect 
consequences of the changes upon the authority, particularly whether 
resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by 
the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit 
is taken over by the Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety. 
The latest announcement (Feb 2020) has again delayed managed 
migration this time to Sept 2024. This makes it difficult to predict the 
resourcing requirements of the benefits service. 
Data shows that,  Full service caseload is continuing to reduce and 
the number of new claims received is starting to reduce however, the 
workload has actually increased as a result of the number of 
notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis.  
Direct consequences are;  

 A reduction in HB caseload.  

 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent 
arrears as payments will be made direct to the tenant, rather than 
direct to the rent account as they are now.  

 Increase in workload for Housing Team.  

 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids.  

Page 73



14 | P a g e  

 Rise in level of corporate debt. 

 Customers may suffer hardship.  
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of 
cash handling through the shift away from rebating benefit to cash 
transactions. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Regular meetings planned to take place with JCP Senior Officers. 

 Customers support with claiming Universal Credit and managing 
finances. 

 Contact with residents as well as social and private landlords to 
establish impact of Universal Credit. 

 Maintain briefing arrangements for Members and staff and 
provide regular updates of any changes. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

Revenues & Benefits Business Plan. 

HRA Business Plan. 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager Revenues & Benefits. 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Relevant departmental officers to continue to liaise 
and meet with representatives from Citizens Advice 
Bureau and Job Centre Plus (JCP). 
Continue to proactively take part in meetings to 
improve the customer experience, hosted by the 
Department for Work & Pensions.  
Take part in Job Shadowing exercises to enable JCP 
staff to spend time at the Civic Centre with Housing 
Benefit, Housing Income and Housing Options staff, 
with a reciprocal arrangement for Local Authority staff 
to attend the Jobcentre. 

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

Assistant Revenues 
and 

Benefits Manager 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Citizens Advice (CA) now provides Help to Claim 
Service which is funded directly by the DWP. This 
support is given in the early stages of the Universal 
Credit claim, from application through to first payment. 
It is a dedicated service which is free to the claimant, 
independent, confidential and impartial. CA do attend 
our meetings and regularly keep us informed of any 
issues they may encounter. As well as providing a 
service out of the Civic Centre, they do also have a 
presence in the Jobcentre where appointments are 
scheduled. 

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

Housing Income 
Manager 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Signposting of customers to the CAB Help to Claim 
Service, JCP and GOV.UK as and when appropriate. 
Continue to work alongside JCP to provide scheduled 
appointments for customers. 
Review and update correspondence issued to 
claimants where necessary to advise on claiming 
Universal Credit. 

 
Head of Revenues 

and Benefits 
Housing Income 

Manager 

 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Page 74



15 | P a g e  

 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continue to provide briefings for staff on a regular 
basis through Team Meetings and Staff bulletins.  
Delivery of briefings and reports to members of the 
Performance & Administration Committee.  
Inclusion of training sessions as appropriate through 
the Member Training Programme.  

Head of Revenue 
and Benefits 

Housing Income 
Manager 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 75



16 | P a g e  

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or 
corruption of data 

Risk No. 
5 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader 

Risk 
Background 

As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a 
cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more important. Whilst 
there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by 
the National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods 
remains the most likely motivation. The "Official 2019 Annual 
Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as 
the world's biggest criminal growth industry. 
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to 
reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown 
vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can 
defeat even the most secure systems. 
The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since 
constant management action is required to ensure we do not slip 
backwards with our arrangements and defences. 
Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident 
response plans. 

Consequences  Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery. 

 Destruction of systems and data. 

 Theft of data for criminal use. 

 Financial loss. 

 Reputational damage. 

 Extended period to recover council services to usual business. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Technical security controls. 

 Backup arrangements in place. 

 Participation with relevant warning bodies.  

 Engagement with Cyber bodies. 

 Improvements to existing controls. 

 Business Continuity planning. 

 Engagement with Local Reliance Partnership. 

 Cyberattack exercise scenario. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Business Continuity Plans. 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) 

Page 76



17 | P a g e  

 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Maintain existing security control arrangements. 
Replace the existing firewall with a device that also provides 
email and web filtering capabilities, reducing the footprint in 
the IT server room, upgrade the log monitoring system. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Maintain offsite backup arrangements. 
Implement enhancements to arrangements for recovery site 
(estimated to be complete by summer 2020). 
 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and 
Reporting Points (WARP) Group. 
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the 
National Cyber Security Centre. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security Centre 
and make use of their Active Cyber defence tools. 
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber 
Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to promote 
best practice and awareness of cyber issues to the local 
government sector. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to upgrade 
council devices and maintain the patch management 
solution (ensuring computers can be kept up to date with 
software updates), as well as the Mobile Device 
Management (MDM) and Secure Email solutions to better 
protect mobile devices. 
Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB device 
control. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Update departmental business continuity plans to include a 
realistic recovery time objective for services. 
Review the IT disaster recovery plan during 2020 to take 
account of changes in storage infrastructure. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Take an active role with the Kent Resilience Team to 
develop an incident response plan for the county which will 
provide a structure for managing a cyber incident based 
upon existing protocols (using JESIP - Joint Emergency 
Services Interoperability Principles). 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Continue to participate in cyberattack workshops as these 
become available. 
Undertake further activities during 2020 with the National 
Cyber Security Centre “exercise in a box” service. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT) 

On-going 
to March 

2021 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 77



18 | P a g e  

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 6 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2020 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader 

Risk 
Background 

As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and 
sustained cuts, over the last four years the council has increased its 
exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the 
diversification of its investment activity and Property Acquisition 
Strategy. 
The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and 
Property Funds; this provides greater opportunities for the council to 
generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks 
and building societies, but also greater exposure to fluctuations in the 
capital value of the investments held. 
To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in 
seven commercial property holdings valued at £22m, generating some 
£1.5m in rental income per annum.  The strategy does, however, 
expose the council to risks around movements in commercial property 
values and the strength of financial standing of the tenants of these 
properties.  

Consequences  Investments do not perform as expected e.g. due to economic 
downturn, which impacts on the balance sheet value of assets. 

 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if 
commercial tenants fail or hand back premises when their lease 
allows. 

 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed 
anticipated levels e.g. due to increased void periods and 
associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility, maintenance 
and refurbishment costs. 

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income 
and investment income that are not achieved, affecting core 
council service delivery. 

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded. 

 Negative impact on council reputation. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Treasury and Investment Framework. 

 Monitoring and review of treasury activity. 

 Financial protection.  

 Professional advice and support. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

 Treasury Management Strategy. 

 Capital Strategy. 

 Property Acquisition Strategy. 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



19 | P a g e  

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action 
Lead 

Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continue to maintain the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Capital Strategy and Property Acquisition 
Strategy to formalise the agreed parameters for investment. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services) 

Ongoing to 
March 
2021 

Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring of 
treasury and commercial investment activity, to both 
officers and Members, to report and review performance of 
the diversified investment portfolio. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services) 

Quarterly 
to March 

2021 

Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, the 
balance of which is set at 15% of investment income in any 
year. 
Continue the close working relationship between Financial 
Services and Property Services to enable early 
identification of any risks or opportunities from the council’s 
commercial property portfolio. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services) 

Ongoing to 
March 
2021 

Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought from the 
council’s Treasury and Economic advisors and other 
experts as required. 
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate due 
diligence, including seeking advice and support from 
external experts as required. 

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services) 

Ongoing to 
March 
2021 

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 
Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Risk Register Outlines the key strategic Risks facing the council and controls that are implemented to manage these risks.  
It also details any further action required by the council to ensure risks are being sufficiently controlled. 
 
The Risks that were identified and formally approved by Full Council on the 12th May 2020 are listed below. These risks have been documented in the 2020-21 - Corporate Risk Register: 
 
 

Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council  
 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change   
 
Risk 3: Organisational capacity/ resilience 
  
Risk 4: Universal Credit 
  
Risk 5: Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 
 
Risk 6: Investment Risk 

 
 

This document provides mid-year progress information in respect of the management of each of the above risks.  The effectiveness of risk management actions that have been carried out as at mid-year, are 
assessed as being one of the following: 

 

     Actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 

Whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.  

 

 

The action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and therefore further work is required. 

 
  

Good 
 

Satisfactory 

Inadequate 

P
age 81



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 
Risk 1: On-going financial viability of the Council  
 

 
Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 

 
Risk Background:  
Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest of local government, has experienced 
significant and sustained cuts to its funding whilst demand on services has risen. By the end of 2019-20 the 
council will have experienced a cash reduction in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 
2010-11 (excluding the funding derived from the New Homes Bonus Scheme). 
The council has faced these challenges head-on and followed a multi-faceted, proactive programme of 
activity to reduce its budget requirement and ensure a balanced budget which is based on sound 
assumptions for how planned expenditure will be met. This activity has been successfully delivered, 
resulting in the council being able to present a fully balanced budget for the current Medium Term Financial 
Plan which requires no additional savings to be delivered in the plan period to 2028-29. 
Central Government have released a Local Government Provisional Finance Settlement for one year only 
relating to 2020-21, with no certainty on the future of local government funding after this. The forthcoming 
year will see the 2020 Spending Review (setting the envelope of funding available to local government) and 
decisions being taken by Central Government on a number of other local government funding reforms that 
are planned for introduction from April 2021, including the Fair Funding Review and reforms to the current 
Business Rates Retention System. There is also significant uncertainty regarding the potential impacts on 
the economy after the UK leave the European Union. 

 
Consequences: 

 Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the future level of government 
funding support and how the business rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the council (including retained 
business rates) beyond the levels projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures. 

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from changes to funding and any 
redesigned business rates scheme. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, potentially leading to 
damage to Council’s reputation. 

 Financial savings not achieved. 

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 

 Problems stored up for the future. 

 Minimum working balance of £2 million is not maintained. 

 New legislative requirements not met. 

 Uncertainty over future large projects. 

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates payers without 
compensation from central government. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
place. 

  

Director  

( Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continue to review reserves and working balance 
annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves as 
a means to manage cash flow, future requirements 
and unexpected events. 
Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives 
and the core principles that underpin these. 
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates 
Scheme design are known. 

A one year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
was put in place in February 2020, covering the 
2020/21 financial year. This is pending the outcome 
of the expected 2020 Spending Review and the local 
government funding reform which is planned for 
introduction in April 2021. The global pandemic 
situation has created much uncertainty in respect of 
the financial stability of local government as a whole.  
This said, the primary objectives of the MTFS have 
held strong, with the council continuing to ensure 
that sound and robust financial management 
arrangements are in place to support service 
delivery and enable the council to manage its 
financial position in these unexpected and 
exceptional times. 

    

P
age 82



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Quarterly Risk 
Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1.2 Medium Term Financial Plan in 
place. 

Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme once 
known 

Officers continue to maintain the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) on a periodic basis, as part of 
the council’s budget monitoring arrangements.  
Additional activity is also being undertaken to 
understand the financial impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, both in the current financial year and in 
future years.  Whilst a balanced MTFP was 
presented to Full Council in February 2020, this 
position has changed in recent months. Further 
action required to ensure the financial stability of the 
council across the MTFP period will be considered 
as part of the budget setting process for 2021/22. 

    

1.3 Robust Budget Monitoring process 
in place. 

Assistant Director 

 (Corporate Services) 

Continue the programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System. 
 
New performance measure implemented to assess 
compliance with budget monitoring arrangements. 
 
Continue to proactively respond to central government 
consultations on funding for local government. 

Budget monitoring arrangements continue to be in 
place and operating effectively.   To ensure 
compliance with budget monitoring, requirements 
have been implemented to improve performance in 
this area.  The council has continued to respond to 
relevant Government consultations and to lobby and 
engage with Central Government, both in its own 
right and as part of professional groups and 
associations.   

    

P
age 83



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  

 
Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team 

 
Risk Background: 
Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of legislation and national priorities’ including 
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) to ensure that it is best placed to respond to any 
implications for its operations or, the Borough more widely. 
Following the General Election in December 2019, the Queen’s Speech introduced the government’s formal 
programme of prospective legislation. Alongside key policy announcements, prospective legislation that 
impacts upon local government service provision include:  

 Domestic Abuse Bill. 

 Employment Bill. 

 Serious Violence Bill. 

 Sentencing Bill. 

 Environment Bill.  

 Telecommunications Infrastructure Bill. 

 Renters’ Reform Bill. 

 Fire Safety Bill, Building Safety Bill. 

 Armed Forces (Legal Protections) Bill. 

 European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Bill. 
On enactment of relevant legislation, the council will potentially face new statutory duties, responsibilities or 
standards with which to adhere, potentially challenging existing services and working practices. 
Additionally, in January 2020 the European Withdrawal Agreement Bill was enacted by parliament. Whilst the 
broader social and economic uncertainty associated with delivery of ‘Brexit’ has subsided, there remains 
inherent risk relating to the transition period and the next phase of withdrawal. The Government’s trade 
negotiations, both in terms of timescale and final content, present risks in terms of further legislative 
developments and, more directly, the potential to cause financial instability to council income and investments 
via national economic uncertainty. 
In respect of NSIPs, the current proposals that are being progressed and have potential impact on the 
Borough include: 

 Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham and Thurrock) 

 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)  

 London Resort (in Dartford /Gravesham) 
The council will need to ensure that it has access to sufficient and appropriate resources, to enable it to 
effectively respond to these proposals as further information is released. 

 
Consequences: 

 Change of strategic direction for the council. 

 Breakdown in governance controls and processes. 

 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for legal challenge. 

 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to deliver the corporate objectives 
and policy commitments within the Corporate Plan. 

 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and effectiveness of the council’s 
supply chain. 

 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a failure to meet community 
needs and expectations. 

 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, sickness absence and 
future recruitment and retention. 

 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and community stakeholders / 
reputational damage. 

 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses to consultations and other 
processes to be made quickly. 

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

 

 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2.1 Timely policy insight.  

 

Corporate Performance 
Manager Continued circulation of monthly policy & legislative 

briefings 

Organisationally, the practical impact of the global 
Covid-19 health pandemic has been significant for the 
council and its frontline community services.   Integral 
to the council’s response has been an enhanced policy 

    

P
age 84



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

 

 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  

 

and intelligence offer to the Corporate Management 
Team (CMT). This is to ensure the sheer scale and 
nature of enacted legislation is effectively analysed 
and accounted for in the plans, preparations and 
amendments carried out to service processes during 
the period.   

 

Primarily driven by the enactment of the Coronavirus 
Act 2020 (for which a dedicated policy briefing was 
produced) and subsequent regulations, policy bulletin 
products during April and May reverted to a new 
weekly reporting cycle. The new process enabled full 
coverage of all key government announcements and, 
in order to deliver legally compliant services, provided 
detailed insight into the government’s legislative 
developments.  

 

Outside of responsive Covid-19 work, the 
government’s broader legislative programme was 
captured in a full legislative briefing provided to the 
CMT in July 2020. Operating on a cyclical 6-monthly 
reporting process, the latest edition of the product 
provided details of core legislation originating from the 
2019 Queen’s Speech e.g. Environment Bill, and early 
insight into the likely impact for council services. 

    

2.2 Commitment to informing government 
policy. 

Wider Management Team Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), 
deliver proactive responses to formal consultations 
and policy papers from central government to ensure 
Gravesham’s strategic position is effectively 
represented.  

During the year to date, the council has continued to 
effectively represent its position in the process of 
central government consultations. This is carried out 
individually on behalf of the council, or collaboratively 
with other neighbouring district authorities, or as part 
of a wider network group (Local Government 
Association, District Councils’ Network (DCN) etc.). 
Adopting this tailored approach, ensures that the views 
of the council are effectively communicated back to 
government, so that they may be taken into account as 
policy decisions are formulated ahead of any new 
legislative programme.  

In the first six months of 2020/21,  the council’s efforts 
have included formal responses to the 

    

P
age 85



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented 

in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

   following consultations: 

 Response to Lower Thames Crossing 
Consultation as landowner; and 

 National Fraud Initiative 2020/21 - 
Work Programme and Scale of Fees 

    

2.3 Maintenance of interaction with partner 
agencies. 

Wider Management Team Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s partnership 
working arrangements and sustaining Gravesham’s 
involvement with key stakeholder agencies and working 
groups on a national and local basis including (but not 
exclusive to):  

- Local Government Association. 
- District Councils Network.  
- Kent Finance Officers Group.  
- Kent Resilience Forum (KRF). 

 

Operationally, Covid-19 amplified the 
importance of the council’s partnership network 
in securing the best possible outcomes for local 
residents; whether at a national or local level.  

As an example, the council continued as an 
integral partner to the Command and Control 
structure, set up through the Kent Resilience 
Forum, both at a tactical and strategic level, as 
well as various sub-groups, including the 
Vulnerable Persons & Communities Group and 
Supply Chain & Logistics Group.  

In addition to the Covid-19 response, during the 
period the council continued to embed its 
commitment to partnership working throughout 
its service delivery, evidenced through 
schemes such as the Shielded scheme working 
with local charities and voluntary groups. In line 
with the recommendations identified through 
the LGA Peer Challenge review, the Chief 
Executive and the Director (Planning & 
Development) have established new 
networking opportunities with key partner 
agencies (e.g. Homes England, Thames 
Estuary Growth Board Envoy etc.) in order to 
boost the profile of Gravesham and to try and 
leverage the necessary infrastructure funding 
to support development in the borough.  

    

2.4 Planning for Business Continuity.  

 

Wider Management Team Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and updated to 
ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

As part of the governance tools used in 
response to Covid-19, a cross-Directorate 
group of officers was identified to operate as a 
research source and ‘critical friend’ to the CMT.  

Amongst its activities the group coordinated a 
series of reviews into the council’s critical 
services. In doing so, the group was able to 
identify the various IT, HR and business needs 
to ensure continued front-line delivery, enabling 

    

P
age 86



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer 
risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented 

in the Corporate Risk Register 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review 

 

Risk Assessment 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

   the CMT to respond effectively in the design of 
essential resilience planning. 

The group has remained in place to ensure that 
BCP remain fit for purpose should any second-
wave restrictions be placed upon the 
authority/Borough. 

    

2.5 Establishment of new Member training 
development plan.  

 

Committee Services/Wider 
Management Team 

Develop a Member Induction Programme to support all 
Members elected and continue to deliver a training and 
development plan to Members. 

Due to the impact of Covid-19, no formal 
Member training sessions were arranged. A 
small number of 1-1 sessions have been held 
for those Members that required Planning 
training.  

Following the Member induction training 
programme, a ‘training needs analysis 
questionnaire’ was distributed to all Members 
allowing them to highlight any further training 
needs. All Members’ responses were analysed 
and incorporated into the Council's ongoing 
Member Training and Development Plan. 
There has been a delay in the Plan being 
approved/implemented due to COVID-19. The 
intention will be to progress this from the 
Autumn onwards.  

    

2.6 Maintain proactive briefing and information 
sharing arrangements between council 
departments, Members and staff to ensure an 
effective and coordinated response to 
significant projects in the Borough. 

Director 

 (Planning & Development) 

Develop effective working practices between departments to 
enable information sharing and coordination of responses 
on behalf of the council. 
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular updates to 
be provided to Members. 

A Corporate Delivery Plan has been 
established to act as a central repository of all 
key Council Projects and initiatives.  This 
enables improved cross-departmental working 
and knowledge sharing about progress being 
made, and also helps to inform Portfolio 
Holder/Shadow Portfolio Holder and Cabinet 
Committee briefings.  

As part of the Council’s COVID response, a 
report was taken to each of the Council’s 
Cabinet Committees outlining the impact of the 
pandemic on the services within that Portfolio. 

The Chief Executive has instigated a weekly 
email update to all staff setting out updates in a 
number of key areas, with this also being 
periodically shared with Members.  The CE 
also meets regularly with the Leader, and the 
group leaders of both the opposition parties. 

    

P
age 87



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

Risk 3:  Organisational capacity/ resilience 
 
Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team 

 
Risk Background:  
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help the effective direction of the 
council’s finite staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the cessation of temporary staff 
contracts and non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances). This is intended to reduce the risk of 
key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and improving organisational capacity and resilience 
where needed, identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and developing the skills and abilities of 
key leaders and staff. 
In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to manage the aging operational buildings from 
which it delivers services to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its ways of working and 
the methods of access preferred by service users. 
The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope with other potential impacts on capacity which 
may result from severe weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services can continue to be 
delivered, particularly in light of the current coronavirus outbreak. 

 
Consequences: 

 Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed on resources, this in turn 
could lead to the council struggling to meet changes in demand for services. 

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which in turn will add pressures 
on already stretched resources. 

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, which in turn can reduce 
staff motivation, create low morale and increase sickness and stress levels. 

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome the problems 
that result from increased organisational stress. 

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls could result due to there 
being insufficient staff resources to carry out essential roles and responsibilities. 

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also possible. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 
 

 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in the 

Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

 

 

 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.1 Effective allocation of resources. Management Team Management Team to continue to receive all requests to fill vacant 
posts. 

Management Team to continue to receive periodic information 
regarding staff resourcing costs v budget, which includes 
information on vacancies to enable discussion on this. 

Annual review of vacant positions within the authority. 

Annual review of the delivery of existing shared services to confirm 
that these continue to work well, provide resilience and offer career 
opportunities for staff. 

Continue to develop and use technology where possible to free up 
resources that could be allocated to other tasks. 

All requests for filling of vacant posts are reviewed by 
Management Team and in addition posts that have 
been vacant for over a year are reviewed on an annual 
basis. 
The shared service arrangements are reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure that they continue to meet our 
objectives. 
Due to Covid-19 existing staff have been allocated to 
new tasks and others areas of work, this work if on-
going. 
 

    

3.2 Flexible working arrangements. Management Team 
 
 

Consider ways in which the workforce can work more flexibly, 
including shared services, work patterns, appropriate remote 
working and use of available technology. 
Continue to offer apprenticeship positions that focus on ensuring 
that, at the end of the training contract, apprentices are ‘job ready’. 
Seek to train apprentices in areas where the council may be having 
difficulties in recruitment. 

A Task and Finish Working group has been established 
to consider Homeworking/Flexible working 
arrangements going forward. 
A full review of Apprenticeships and work experience is 
currently being reviewed and taken forward at the 
current time. 
 

    

P
age 88



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
 
 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk 

Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review 

 

 

 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

3.3 Provision of training and support. Director 

 (Communities) 

Retain a specific budget for supporting staff training 
and development. 

In line with the Investors In People (IIP) Action plan, 
ensure annual appraisals are carried out for all staff to 
identify training needs, alongside periodic one to one 
meetings to monitor performance and identify any 
further training needs. 

Continue to offer all employees e-learning and face to 
face training opportunities via the HRA Shared 
Service iShare training system. 

Training at present is mostly virtual.  A new appraisal system was 
introduced in March/April of this year and all managers received 
the appropriate training.  The new system has been in place since 
April and all appraisals should have been concluded by the end of 
September.  Any outstanding appraisals are currently being 
chased. 

    

3.4 Workforce Support. Director  

(Communities) 

Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the 
workforce on key issues regarding the Council and 
give employees the opportunity to raise any concerns 
they may have. 

Deliver the IIP action plan. 

Continue to actively proactively and positively engage 
with Trade Unions. 

Continue communication to promote Occupational 
Health, the Employee Assistance Programme and the 
Mental Health Champions as further confidential 
support services for staff. 

The Investors in People working group is leading on the action 
plan and good progress is being made, with regular reports to 
Management Team. 
Communication has been key during these changing times and 
the Branch Secretary of Unison has been working closely with 
Management Team during these difficult times. 
In addition, it has been essential that we have been supporting 
staff and on a weekly basis staff are receiving communication 
from the Chief Executive, who is giving amongst other things, 
information around support that is available to staff. 
 

    

3.5 Operational Building Management. Director 

 (Communities) 

Asset Management Group to maintain oversight of the 
operational buildings used to deliver council services. 

A small group of staff have been leading on the Covid compliant 
plan for the Civic buildings and regular updates have been 
provided to staff.  The offices are currently being covered on a 
rota basis and regular checks are put in place to ensure that staff 
are complying with the new changes to the buildings.  The plans 
continue to be updated and modified in line with government 
advice. 

    

3.6 Business Continuity Framework. Wider Management Team Review all Business Continuity plans on an annual 
basis to ensure that they are up to date and fit for 
purpose.  

Develop existing information for local businesses or 
organisations with regards to the importance for their 
own resilience during a potential Business Continuity 
event that affects their business and staff. 

 

Our plans have been updated in line with Covid-19 changes and 
are currently being reviewed in line with the County approach to 
the Brexit withdrawal arrangements. 
 

    

P
age 89



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

 

Risk 4: Universal Credit  
 
Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) 
 

 
Risk Background:  
Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic form on the 18 May 2015 for single 
residents only in prescribed circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk score. 
Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and was available for all types of claimant with the 
exception of a few categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) had overall responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, 
although the Council has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish to claim. 

From 1 April 2019 the DWP sub contracted Citizens Advice to do the Assisted Digital Support and Personal 
Budgeting Support directly to residents. Implementation of additional analytical software to support the 
Housing Income Team, along with regular income collection performance monitoring, review of income 
collection procedures and audits and early intervention to support tenants has assisted in dealing with this 
risk adequately. 
The Work and Pensions Secretary announced Feb 2020 that the full roll-out of Universal Credit has been 
delayed from Dec 2023 to Sept 2024, as data now suggests that natural migration over to Universal Credit 
through changes to people’s circumstances, is happening less frequently then previously predicted. 

 
Consequences: 
There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect consequences of the changes upon 
the authority, particularly whether resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained 
by the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit is taken over by the 
Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety. The latest announcement (Feb 2020) has again 
delayed managed migration this time to Sept 2024. This makes it difficult to predict the resourcing 
requirements of the benefits service. 
Data shows that, Full service caseload is continuing to reduce and the number of new claims received 
is starting to reduce however, the workload has actually increased as a result of the number of 
notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis. 
Direct consequences are; 

 A reduction in HB caseload. 

 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent arrears as payments will 
be made direct to the tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as they are now. 

 Increase in workload for Housing Team. 

 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids. 

 Rise in level of corporate debt. 

 Customers may suffer hardship. 
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of cash handling through the shift away 
from rebating benefit to cash transactions. 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in 

the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-

Year Review Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

4.1 Regular Meetings Planned to take place with 
JCP Senior Officers. 

Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Assistant Revenues and 

Benefits Manager 

Relevant departmental officers to continue to liaise and meet 
with representatives from Citizens Advice Bureau and Job 
Centre Plus (JCP). 

Continue to proactively take part in meetings to improve the 
customer experience, hosted by the Department for Work & 
Pensions. 

Take part in Job Shadowing exercises to enable JCP staff to 
spend time at the Civic Centre with Housing Benefit, Housing 
Income and Housing Options staff, with a reciprocal 
arrangement for Local Authority staff to attend the Jobcentre. 

Liaison has continued despite the Covid-
19 pandemic although remotely. JCP 
Partnership Manager has remarked that 
“they are proud of the working relationship 
between JCP and GBC (Housing and 
Benefit sections)”. Caseload & workload 
has been closely monitored and reported. 
The first half-year has seen significant 
benefit changes with good regular update 
bulletins (22 CLAWD bulletins received). 
Job shadowing temporarily suspended 
due to the pandemic but will be 
resurrected as soon as practicable.  

 

 

 

 
 

  

P
age 90



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in 

the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at Mid-

Year Review Risk Assessment 

4.2 Customers given help with claiming Universal 
Credit and managing finance. 

Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Housing Income Manager 

Citizens Advice (CA) now provides Help to Claim Service 
which is funded directly by the DWP. This support is given in 
the early stages of the Universal Credit claim, from application 
through to first payment. It is a dedicated service which is free 
to the claimant, independent, confidential and impartial. CA  
attend our meetings and regularly keep us informed of any 
issues they may encounter. As well as providing a service out 
of the Civic Centre, they do also have a presence in the 
Jobcentre where appointments are scheduled. 

CAB has not had a physical presence in 
either the Civic Centre, or the Jobcentre, 
due to Covid-19 restrictions during the first 
half-year. They have however continued to 
provide the service remotely via 
telephone.  

There have been no evictions during first 
half-year due to national suspension, but 
Web pages are kept up to date and 
targeted social media messaging is in 
place to signpost claimants where 
assistance is needed.  

Particular advice has been promoted 
concerning hardship caused by the Covid-
19 pandemic and relevant 
grants/payments that are available. 
Despite a significant increase in UC 
claimants the Housing Team has 
managed the level of rent arrears by the 
use of alternative payment arrangements 
to control rent arrears. 

    

4.3 Contact with residents as well as social and 
private landlords to establish impact of Universal 
Credit. 

Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Housing Income Manager 

Signposting of customers to the CAB Help to Claim Service, 
JCP and GOV.UK as and when appropriate. 
Continue to work alongside JCP to provide scheduled 
appointments for customers. 
Review and update correspondence issued to claimants where 
necessary to advise on claiming Universal Credit. 

Signposting has continued. Although JCP 
has advised that customer numbers have 
slightly reduced. Close working with JCP 
continues via telephone. Web pages are 
kept up to date and targeted social media 
messaging is in place to signpost 
claimants.. 

    

4.4 Maintain briefing arrangements for members 
and staff and provide regular updates of any 
changes. 

Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Housing Income Manager 

Continue to provide briefings for staff on a regular basis 
through Team Meetings and Staff bulletins. 
Delivery of briefings and reports to members of the 
Performance & Administration Committee. 
Inclusion of training sessions as appropriate through the 
Member Training Programme. 

Staff have continued to be briefed and 
received regular bulletins and 
information/training on system changes. 
Members have been updated via the 
Performance and Administration 
committee. 

    

P
age 91



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 

 
 

Risk 5: Cyberattack Resulting in data breach or corruption of data  
 
Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services)  

 
Risk Background:  
As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a cyberattack disrupting those systems 
becomes more important. Whilst there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by the 
National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods remains the most likely motivation. The 
"Official 2019 Annual Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as the world's 
biggest criminal growth industry. 
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to reduce the ease at which an IT 
Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can 
defeat even the most secure systems. 
The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since constant management action is required 
to ensure we do not slip backwards with our arrangements and defences. 
Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident response plans. 
 

 
Consequences: 

 Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery. 

 Destruction of systems and data. 

 Theft of data for criminal use. 

 Financial loss. 

 Reputational damage. 

 Extended period to recover council services to usual business. 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in 

the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at 

Mid-Year Review Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.1 Implementation of Technical Security 
Controls.  

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Maintain existing security control arrangements. 

Replace the existing firewall with a device that also provides 
email and web filtering capabilities, reducing the footprint in the 
IT server room, upgrade the log monitoring system. 

Due to other commitments the new web 
and email filtering capability has not 
been progressed, but existing control 
systems have been arranged to remain 
in place for a further year. 

The log monitoring system has been 
updated and the configuration 
reviewed. 

    

5.2 Back up arrangements in place. Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Maintain offsite backup arrangements. 

Implement enhancements to arrangements for recovery site 
(estimated to be complete by summer 2020). 

The existing offsite arrangements 
continue. The enhancements have 
been delayed by approximately six 
months.  This is due to the physical 
delivery and installations not being 
possible due to the governments Covid-
19 restrictions being in place at the 
time. 

    

5.3 Maintain participation with relevant warning 
bodies.  

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and Reporting 
Points (WARP) Group. 

Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the National 
Cyber Security Centre. 

 

This work continues.     

P
age 92



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

 
  

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in 

the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at 

Mid-Year Review Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

5.4 Maintain direct engagement with Cyber 
bodies.  

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security Centre 
and make use of their Active Cyber defence tools. 

Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber Technical 
Advisory Group whose purpose is to promote best practice and 
awareness of cyber issues to the local government sector. 

This work continues.     

5.5 Improvements to existing controls. Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to upgrade 
council devices and maintain the patch management solution 
(ensuring computers can be kept up to date with software 
updates), as well as the Mobile Device Management (MDM) 
and Secure Email solutions to better protect mobile devices. 

Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB device 
control. 

This work continues.     

5.6 Expansion of Business Continuity plans.  Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Update departmental business continuity plans to include a 
realistic recovery time objective for services. 

Review the IT disaster recovery plan during 2020 to take 
account of changes in storage infrastructure. 

This work is dependent upon 5.2 above 
and has been delayed by six months as 
a result. 

    

5.7 Engagement with Local Resilience 
Partnership. 
 

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Take an active role with the Kent Resilience Team to develop 
an incident response plan for the county which will provide a 
structure for managing a cyber incident based upon existing 
protocols (using JESIP - Joint Emergency Services 
Interoperability Principles). 

The Kent Resilience Forum have 
deferred this work due to the level of 
resources being required for Covid-19 
response. 

    

5.8 Conduct Cyberattack exercise scenarios. 
 

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) 

Continue to participate in cyberattack workshops as these 
become available. 
Undertake further activities during 2020 with the National 
Cyber Security Centre “exercise in a box” service. 

Following on from deploying staff 
awareness training in July, an email 
phishing simulation exercise is being 
planned. 

    

P
age 93



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10 

 

Risk 6: Investment Risk  
 
Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services)  
 

 
Risk Background:  
As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and sustained cuts, over the last four years the 
council has increased its exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the diversification of its 
investment activity and Property Acquisition Strategy. 
The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and Property Funds; this provides greater 
opportunities for the council to generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks and 
building societies, but also greater exposure to fluctuations in the capital value of the investments held. 
To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in seven commercial property holdings 
valued at £22m, generating some £1.5m in rental income per annum. The strategy does, however, expose 
the council to risks around movements in commercial property values and the strength of financial standing 
of the tenants of these properties. 
 
 

 
Consequences: 

 Investments do not perform as expected e.g. due to economic downturn, which impacts on the 
balance sheet value of assets. 

 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if commercial tenants fail or hand 
back premises when their lease allows. 

 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed anticipated levels e.g. due to 
increased void periods and associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility, maintenance and 
refurbishment costs. 

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income and investment income that 
are not achieved, affecting core council service delivery. 

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded. 

 Negative impact on council reputation. 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer 
Required Management Action as originally documented in 

the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at 

Mid-Year Review 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

6.1 Treasury and Investment Framework. Assistant Director  

(Corporate Services) 

Continue to maintain the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Capital Strategy and Property Acquisition Strategy to 
formalise the agreed parameters for investment. 

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS) and Capital Strategy 
for 2020/21 were approved by Full 
Council on 25 February alongside the 
2020/21 budget. 

The Property Acquisition Strategy has 
been reviewed and property investment 
guidance updated to assist with future 
investment proposals and as a tool in 
the ongoing management and 
monitoring of the portfolio.  This 
updated guidance was adopted by Full 
Council on 6 October 2020. 

 

 

 

 
 

  

6.2 Monitoring and review of treasury activity. Assistant Director  
(Corporate Services) 

Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring of treasury 
and commercial investment activity, to both officers and 
Members, to report and review performance of the diversified 
investment portfolio. 

The TMSS annual review report was 
presented to F&A Committee on 21 
July 2020.  As well as a review of 
2019/10, this provided an update to 
Members of the action that had been 
taken by officers in consultation with the 
Chair of F&A in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
A combined Quarter 1 and Quarter 2 
Treasury Management report was. 

    

P
age 94



Gravesham Borough Council 
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks 

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register) 

 
 
 

 

 

Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk 
Lead Officer 

Required Management Action as originally documented in 
the Corporate Risk Register 

 

 
Management Action Update as at 

Mid-Year Review 

 

Risk Assessment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  

 

presented to Management Team on 20 
October 2020.  The mid-year TMSS is 
to be presented to F&A committee on 
11 November 2020. 
The council has developed a 
dashboard to maintain oversight and 
monitoring of its commercial property 
portfolio, which includes acquisitions 
made under the Property Acquisition 
Strategy.  This is produced quarterly 
and presented to Management Team 
as well as the Commercial Services 
Cabinet Committee. 

    

6.3 Financial Protection.  Assistant Director  
(Corporate Services) 

Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, the balance 
of which is set at 15% of investment income in any year. 
Continue the close working relationship between Financial 
Services and Property Services to enable early identification of 
any risks or opportunities from the council’s commercial property 
portfolio. 

The Commercial Income Protection 
Reserve for 2020-21 is £438,590 as per 
the MTFP, reflecting a level at 15% of 
budgeted commercial income for the 
year.  Financial Services and Property 
Services continue to work closely to 
identify any risks or opportunities from 
the council’s commercial property 
portfolio, with this activity also informed 
by commercial property portfolio 
dashboard. 

    

6.4 Professional advice and support.  Assistant Director  
(Corporate Services) 

Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought from the 
council’s Treasury and Economic advisors and other experts as 
required. 
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate due 
diligence, including seeking advice and support from external 
experts as required. 

Link Treasury Services was contracted 
to provide consultancy services to the 
Council to 30 September 2020.  It was 
the intention to undertake a 
procurement exercise for the provision 
of consultancy services from 1 October 
2020. However, as a result of the 
financial and economic impacts of 
COVID as well as some significant 
Council projects, it was decided that it 
was important for continuity of advice 
and support.  Therefore a further two 
year contract has been issued to Link 
Treasury Services in accordance with 
Procurement Policy Note 01/20.  The 
cost of contract for the two year 
extension period is consistent with 
previous contract cost. 

    

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2020

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: National Fraud Initiative Progress Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work completed in relation to the data matches 
received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercises 2018-19 and 2019-20 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council proactively takes part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise, 
which is co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. This is a nationwide data matching 
exercise, comparing computer records held by the council against other computer 
records held by councils and other public bodies, with a view to identifying 
potential instances of fraud or irregularity. 

1.2 There are two separate exercises, one matches council tax single person discount 
(SPD) to the electoral register and is run on an annual basis. Data is submitted 
between December, once the electoral register has been published, and February 
the following year, with the results received within hours. 

1.3 The second exercise takes data from the council in relation to; 

 housing (tenancies, right to buy, waiting list),
 housing benefit,
 council tax reduction,
 residents parking permits,
 creditors (historic and standing),
 market traders,
 personal alcohol licences,
 payroll, and
 private hire (taxi) licences,

Page 97 Agenda Item 10



2

and is run on a bi-annual basis with data submitted in October and the results 
identified from the subsequent data matching released to the authority in January 
the following year. 

1.4 Matches can be reviewed by the individual services they relate to, with suspicious 
results referred to the Audit & Counter Fraud (A&CF) Service for investigation, or 
reviewed directly by the A&CF service.

1.5 This report provides a further update on the 2018-19 exercise, which includes the 
matches resulting from all the data sets mentioned above, and gives an overview 
of the activity undertaken across the council in response to the potential 
discrepancies identified.

1.6 There is also a brief update on the matches received as part of the 2019-20 
exercise relating to Council Tax, as described in paragraph 1.2.

2. Progress with the 2018-19 exercise

2.1 The matches received can be categorised in seven key areas of the council and 
progress as at 30 September 2020 is reported under each of those headings.

Council Tax 

2.2 The matches relating to council tax (CTAX) are checked by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service and initially 2,253 matches were received across the various 
reports. These relate to persons with a single person discount where the data 
match has identified;

 Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (757 matches),
 Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 18 (56 

matches), and
 Other council records showing alternative persons registered at the 

address (1440 matches).

2.3 In August 2019, the Cabinet office released new matches following a successful 
pilot for matching against PAYE data held by HMRC, which produced an 
additional 2,559 matches where PAYE data indicates there may be additional 
occupants at addresses where an SPD is in place

2.4 As detailed in the last progress report, the work was focused on the matches to 
the electoral roll and all of the 757 matches indicating more than one individual at 
an address had been assessed. As of 30 September 2020 this work has resulted 
in the following;

 Three matches remain open for ongoing investigations
 485 closed with no evidence of fraud
 269 SPD removed (36 replaced with an alternative discount)

2.5 This represents a success rate of 35.54% to date and has led to additional CTAX 
liability of £183,909.35 and an additional £90,958.61 in future years in relation to 
discounts that will no longer be applied.

2.6 The matches against other council data sets were not given due to the fact that 
the majority of the councils data was submitted in October 2018 but the CTAX 
SPD data, on this occasion, was not submitted until the following February. This 

Page 98



3

meant there was likely to be a high number of false positives created by residents 
changing address in the period between data submissions. 

2.7 As with the matches against other council datasets, it has been established 
through the checking of other reports that the age of the HMRC data used in the 
matching process was much older than the council tax data, meaning that the 
potential for false positives was extremely high. 

2.8 The shutdown of the service during the emergency response period has meant 
that little progress has been made with those outstanding matches; with resources 
directed to other areas. Instead, it is intended to use the data for comparison with 
any matches received as part of the 2019-20 exercise, with any of the new 
matches identified as requiring investigation being checked against the list of 
HMRC matches. This will identify individuals linked to the address by more than 
one data source, allowing for more effective investigation. 

Housing Benefit 

2.9 Results linked to housing benefit (HB) are spread across 28 different reports. 
These reports identify potential employment, other income and additional 
residents that may not have been declared for the purpose of the benefit 
assessment. It should be noted that the majority of these people are also in 
receipt of council tax reduction as part of their claim.

2.10 The benefits section were responsible for reviewing the 424 matches linked to the 
26 reports received in January 2019, using the risk score provided by the Cabinet 
Office to target the high priority matches first. Any instances of potential fraud 
were referred directly to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for further 
investigation.

2.11 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to those 424 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 nine matches referred to DWP for formal investigation,
 350 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 65 matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

2.12 An additional 112 matches from two new reports were received in August 2019 
linked to HMRC data, which identify potential additional occupants or capital in the 
form of property ownership that may not have been declared. These matches 
were reviewed by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service.

2.13 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to those 112 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 ten matches remain open for further enquiries,
 three matches referred to DWP for formal investigation,
 99 closed with no evidence of fraud or error. 

2.14 This represents an overall success rate of 12.13% and has led to the identification 
of housing benefit overpayments totalling £20,819.83, and excess council tax 
reduction awards of £4,219.77. In addition housing benefit awards have been 
reduced by a total of £796.95 per week (annual saving of £41,441) and council tax 
reduction awards have been reduced by a total of £51.93 per week (annual saving 
of £2,700)

Page 99



4

Council Tax Reduction

2.15 Results linked to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) are spread across 28 different 
reports. As with the HB dataset matches, these reports identify potential 
employment, other income and additional residents that may not have been 
declared for the purpose of the benefit assessment and the majority of those 
people are also in receipt of HB as part of the same claim. 

2.16 The benefits section were responsible for reviewing the 427 matches linked to the 
25 reports received in January 2019, using the risk score provided by the Cabinet 
Office to target the high priority matches first. Any instances of potential fraud 
were referred directly to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for further 
investigation.

2.17 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to those 427 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 Four matches remain unchecked,
 three matches referred to DWP for formal investigation where housing 

benefit is also in payment,
 364 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 56 matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

2.18 An additional 304 matches from three new reports were received in August 2019 
linked to HMRC data. These matches were reviewed by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service.

2.19 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to those 304 matches has resulted in the 
following;

 23 matches remain open for further enquiries,
 one match referred to DWP for formal investigation where housing benefit 

is also in payment,
 279 closed with no evidence of fraud or error,
 one match resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction

2.20 This represents an overall success rate of 7.80% to date and has led to the 
identification of HB overpayments totalling £3,048.93 and excess CTR awards of 
£16,706.97. In addition HB awards have been reduced by a total of £106.01 per 
week (annual saving of £5,513) and CTR awards have been reduced by a total of 
£138.62 per week (annual saving of £7,208)

Payroll

2.21 Payroll matches are aimed at identifying employees who may have undeclared 
secondary employment that could lead to a failure to work their contracted hours 
and also any employees that are creditors providing services to the council, which 
could lead to potential undeclared interests or procurement corruption.

2.22 16 matches were received across eight reports and to date 13 have been closed 
with no evidence of fraud. The remaining three, which relate to employees that 
have been identified as creditors have not been reviewed.

Housing

Page 100



5

2.23 Results linked to housing are spread across 31 different reports. These reports 
identify individuals who potentially have tenancies with more than one authority, 
discrepancies that suggest right to buy applications may be fraudulent, and 
individuals on the council waiting list that appear to have tenancies with other local 
authorities/Housing Associations or are on the waiting list of other local 
authorities. 

2.24 The Housing Department were responsible for reviewing the 310 matches linked 
to the 28 reports received in January 2019 and progress as of 30 September, is 
as follows;

 286 matches remain unchecked,
 one match open for further enquiries
 23 closed with no evidence of fraud or error,

2.25 An additional 69 matches from three new reports were received in August 2019 
linked to HMRC data. These matches were reviewed by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service.

2.26 As of 30 September, the 69 matches have been assessed and resulted in the 
following;

 25 matches remain open for further enquiries,
 44 closed with no evidence of fraud or error,

2.27 The Housing Department has been through a period of significant changes within 
their senior management, the Intelligence Analyst post being vacant up until 
September 2019 and the shutdown of the Audit & Counter Fraud service early in 
2020 are all factors that have contributed to the limited progress in this area.

Parking

2.28 Residents Parking Permits are matched to the deceased data held by the DWP to 
identify any active permits registered to customers who are now deceased.

2.29 38 matches were received but are yet to be checked. This is due to the resource 
issues within Audit & Counter Fraud that are mentioned in paragraph 2.26. 

Finance

2.30 Results linked to finance are spread across eight different reports. These reports 
identify potential duplicate payee records in the system, duplicate payments to 
creditors and overpayments of VAT. 

2.31 A total of 568 matches were received and have been reviewed by the finance 
service with the following identified to date;

 543 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 25 duplicate payments to creditors identified  

2.32 The success rate to date is only 4.40% but the duplicate payments identified total 
£46,093.77 and steps are being taken to recover monies or have credit notes 
added to the appropriate accounts for future invoices.

Overall Summary

Page 101



6

2.33 Gravesham received a total of 7080 matches as part of the 2018-19 NFI exercise 
between January 2019 and August 2019. Overall performance as of 30 
September is as follows;

 4386 matches awaiting initial checks (62%),
 62 matches open for further enquiries (<1%),
 2,216 closed with no evidence of fraud or error (37%)
 416 matches have led to the identification of an error (<5.8%)

o HB awards reduced by £902.96 (annual saving of £46,953.92)
o Housing and council tax benefit overpayments of 23,868.76 
o CTR awards reduced by £190.55 per week (annual increase in liability 

of £9,908.60),
o Excess CTR awards creating additional historic liability of £20,926.74,
o 268 single person discounts removed, creating additional historic 

liability of £183,909.35 and annual increase in liability of £90,958.61,

2.34 This demonstrates an overall success rate of 5.88% in respect of the matches 
checked and total financial values identified as £376,525.98.

2.35 Work to review the matches received ceased on 30 September 2020, to allow 
resources to be directed to checking the matches received as part of the 2019-20 
SPD to the electoral register exercise and preparation for the 2020-21 exercise, 
which will have fresh data linked to the areas detailed in this report.

2.36 While 4386 matches were unchecked, 1440 relate to relate to potentially false 
SPD cases, where previous exercises have already identified that the quality of 
the matches is poor due to the time lag between submissions. In addition, the 
2.559 matches that relate to SPD’s matched to HMRC data, will be used to inform 
the working being undertaken as part of the 2019-20 exercise This leaves a net 
figure of just 387 matches that could not be checked. 

2.37 In the coming months, the Cabinet Office will remove access to the data for the 
2018-19 exercise as it prepares to release matches for the 2020-21 exercise. 
Anything that remains open at this time, is subject to ongoing investigations and 
will be reported to the Committee along with other counter fraud activity in the 
audit & counter fraud update reports but there will be no further update in respect 
of the 2018-19 exercise itself. 

3. Progress with the 2019-20 Council Tax Exercise

3.1 In January 2020, 934 matches were received across three reports, the largest of 
which (793) related to those with a single person discount where another 
individual was identified on the electoral role.

3.2 The shutdown of the service has meant that detailed work in this area could not 
commence prior to 01 October as resources were directed to clearing matches 
from the 2018-19 exercise. However, it was possible to identify matches that had 
been cleared during previous exercises and consequently 295 were rejected as 
not being suitable for investigation.

3.3 Work has now commenced on more detailed checking of the matches received 
and as mentioned previously in this report, any matches identified for investigation 
will be cross checked against the matches relating to HMRC data to see if the 
individuals are linked by more than one data source.

3.4 A further update on this latest exercise will be provided to Members in the future.

Page 102



7

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Page 103



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: 
undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority 
is responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough 
Council has delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway 
Council to deliver internal audit services through the Shared Service to both 
authorities. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 104

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


9

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital/website implications to this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Statutory Statement of Accounts 2019/20
	6 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2 2020/21
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V3 - 2020-21 - BMR Q2
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 September 2020

	7 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2 2020/21
	HRA Business Plan Appendix I
	HRA Business Plan Appendix II

	9 Mid-Year Review of 2020/21 Corporate Risk Register
	2 Appendix Two 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register
	3. Appendix Three  Mid Year Progress Information

	10 National Fraud Initiative Progress Report

